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FOREWORD

A mere glance at the physical expanse comprising eastern Savannah would not suggest that it was once so remote and green as to invite
comparisons to the Garden of Eden. Ebb and Flow: Life and Community in Eastern Savannab combines this fact, along with others, into a
remarkable history, vast in its scope and in its complexity. £bb and Flow is the third in a series of projects, initiated by the City of Savannah
several years ago. With a historian’s discerning gaze, Martha Keber, the book’s author, reveals an eastern Savannah defined by the force of
economic realities and re-shaped by the daily social transactions of its residents.

Pore over the book’s pages, visit the project’s website at www.savannahneighborhoods.org, or drop by the temporary exhibition at the Telfair, and
you will see these residents’ very obvious pride in East Savannah, Hillcrest, Pine Gardens, Savannah Gardens, and Twickenham neighborhoods.
Full partners in this project, residents contributed their time, their images, and their recollections, allowing the City to enter their homes and
capture voices burnished by age. Apparent in the telling of this tale is the fact that a neighborhood is not defined by its buildings, its geography, or
its businesses, but instead, by the residents who have, and continue to, live there.

Many individuals and institutions helped make this project a reality. The City is indebted to our financial partners; namely the Georgia Council
for the Arts, the Georgia Humanities Council, the Georgia Department of Natural Resources, and the Savannah Foundation. The City is
especially grateful to All Walks of Life (AWOL) for producing My Block, a media arts project that had Savannah’s teenagers crafting mini-
documentaries exploring these neighborhoods” history. A debt of gratitude is also owed to the Telfair Museum of Art for producing a May 2011
exhibition as a complement to this publication. Acknowledged elsewhere in this publication is the generosity of the many repositories, among
them the Georgia Historical Society, Live Oak Public Libraries, and Savannah Morning News, that graciously permitted reproduction of images.
None of this would be possible without the contribution of the 100 or so citizens who shared tips, provided introductions, and graciously rifled
through their papers in the search for answers sought by team members.

Particular thanks also goes to the project team — Martha Keber, Kelly Applegate, Charles Elmore, Linda Evans, Reginald Franklin, Geoff L.
Johnson, DaVena Jordan, Jan Kramer, and Janet Stone — working under the supervision of Michelle Hunter, the project manager. Space does not
permit a full recounting of their immense contribution to this project.

Long ago, this administration and City staff realized that the divide between intention and deed is a short one, bridged through innovation and
citizen engagement. This project, along with the physical redevelopment of Savannah Gardens, demonstrates the City’s commitment to realizing
a brighter future for this community. With great pleasure, I present £bb and Flow as a small reminder that empowered citizens continue to shape
Savannah’s narrative, participating as they do in the mundane and in the extraordinary.

Otis S. Johnson, Ph.D.
Mayor, City of Savannah
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CROSSROADS

UNUSUAL VISITORS ARRIVED AT LEPAGEVILLE on September 7, 1939. The black families of
this railroad workers’ village, established by the Savannah, Florida & Western Railway more than fifty
years earlier, were accustomed to employees from the fertilizer plant or even Standard Oil men at work
within sight of their homes but this group was unlike any work crew they had seen. Seventeen people
in all, with gear in tow, went past the small gray houses off President Street, beyond the cemetery, and
into the woods on the bluff overlooking the Savannah River. This archaeological team from the Works
Progress Administration (WPA) hoped to find the traces of Native Americans who had settled on the
bluff hundreds of years before.!

As serene as the area may have appeared on that sultry September day, the archaeologists knew that
there were rich layers of history below ground level of eastern Savannah. The intersection of Indian
trails, villages, and the river highway made the area a crossroads. Even after the Native Americans
gave way to the Europeans, the area played an important role in agricultural, industrial, and military
developments that shaped Savannah. In the same way that the archaeologists found the remnants of
another time beneath the bluff at LePageville, the early history of Savannah’s eastside was formative
but often hidden from view.

THE NATIVE AMERICAN PRESENCE

The archaeologists who worked near LePageville initially in 1939 and later for a few months in 1941
and 1942 excavated what they called the “Deptford village site.” The native people who lived there,
between the years 500 and 1000 A.D., left abundant evidence of their lives. Arrowheads and knives
suggest that they were hunters and the numerous midden pits, or garbage heaps, full of oyster and
mussel shells, show that their diet was rich in seafood. The villagers had stone tools for grinding and
pounding, as well as deer bone awls used to punch holes. If much of their lives revolved around the
search for food, they also appreciated ornaments to wear, such as ear pins crafted from a conch shell or
a necklace with a stone bar. Even a trace of their fears remained deep in the sand. A ninety foot trail
of dark sand intermingled with shell fragments marked a trench where the villagers erected a palisade,
or protective wall. It seems concern for safety prompted the inhabitants to construct defenses.? If the
Deptford site has been overshadowed by the larger and more thoroughly excavated Irene Mound near
Garden City, it nonetheless confirms a well-established presence of these Indians in eastern Chatham
County a thousand years ago.

More than a century before Oglethorpe landed in 1733, the Indians who lived along the banks of the
Savannah River were aware of the arrival of Europeans nearby. The Frenchman Jean Ribault sailed
up the river a short distance in 1562, doubtlessly under the eyes of native observers.? The Spanish,
however, established a more permanent presence with fourteen missions on the Georgia coast, as well

Fig. 1: Hauling Rice by Oxcart at Deptford Plantation, ca. 1883-1893. 3

William Ernest Wilson Photo Archive, MS 993, Box 1, Folder 48.
Courtesy of Hargrett Rare Book and Manuscript Library, University of Georgia Libraries.




as others built in coastal South Carolina and Florida. The missions closest
to the future site of Savannah were Santa Elena on Parris Island, and Santa
Catalina de Guale on St. Catherines Island, established in the late sixteenth
century.? Traveling by boat, the friars may have made contact with the
villages located along the river. In any event, word of mouth certainly
alerted Native Americans to the activities of their new neighbors.

For Indians in the Southeast, the contact with Europeans was devastating.
P g
Having no resistance to European diseases such as smallpox, measles,
g : p - p
typhus, and influenza, Native Americans died in large numbers. By 1657,
the governor of Spain’s la Florida colony noted that the coastal Indians
were few in number “because they have been wiped out with the sickness

,?‘ Ao

v

Fig. 2: The meticulous work of excavation at the Deptford village site took place over a seven month period in 1940-1941 under the direction of Catherine J. McCann.

of the plague and smallpox which have overtaken them in the past years.”>
Only a remnant survived to greet Oglethorpe on Yamacraw Bluff in 1733.

RICE PLANTATIONS

Creeks and rivers ten to twenty miles inland from the Atlantic Ocean were
subject to the rhythm of the tides that rose and fell twice a day. These fresh
water tides made the cultivation of rice possible. But it was the legalization
of slavery in the Georgia colony in 1750 that made rice culture a practical
venture. Draining swamps, clearing and leveling land, building and
maintaining floodgates, ditches, and dikes required a substantial work force
as did planting, hoeing, harvesting, and threshing the rice.®

W.PA. Archaeological Excavations in Chatham County, Georgia: 1937-1942, University of Georgia Archaeology Series, Report No. 29.

Courtesy of the University of Georgia, with the assistance of Prof. David Hally.
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Fig. 3: A complex system of canals and gates allowed rice fields to be periodically flooded and drained over the course of the growing season.

Rice Field, ca. 1883-1893, William Ernest Wilson Photo Archive, MS 993, Box 1, Folder 49.
Courtesy of Hargrett Rare Book and Manuscript Library, University of Georgia Libraries.

Jonathan Bryan was the first to seize the opportunity when in 1751 he Unlike Bryan, Miles Brewton was an absentee landlord, preferring his
established Walnut Hill plantation on 500 acres that included land from, elegant mansion in Charleston to the plantation house in Georgia. After
what is today, Hillcrest and Twickenham neighborhoods. The sixty-six all, one French visitor remembered the plantations around Savannah best
enslaved people Bryan settled at Walnut Hill made this rice plantation for their “noxious air full of disease” when the floodgates allowed the waters
the first along the Savannah River to be worked by slave labor. Bryan in the ditches to recede.” Brewton was a canny investor who understood
was already an experienced planter with three sizable plantations in his the profit potential of his new Georgia property. In fact, the 500 acres
native South Carolina. The purchase of Walnut Hill, however, signaled his ~ purchased in 1765 gave him the incentive to expand eastward along the
shifting allegiance to Georgia as he moved his wife and nine children into river to St. Augustine Creek near Causton Bluff. He called the 2,500 acres
their new home shortly after Christmas in 1752.7 In the eleven years he of new acquisitions “Turckenham” although the core property of Walnut
lived at Walnut Hill, Bryan increased his land holdings and his fortune, Hill was simply referred to as “Mr. Brewton’s plantation.”!?

while emerging as an influential public figure in Savannah. In 1765, he
sold Walnut Hill to wealthy Miles Brewton of Charleston.?
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Fig. 4: This 1825 map shows many features of the plantation landscape. Brewton Hill, at that time under the ownership of Dr. Maham Haig, and Turnbull’s Deptford
are represented by the planters’homes. The ferry service is indicated on the South Carolina riverbank opposite Brewton Hill's rice fields.

Charles E. Waring and Elizabeth E. Waring, Detail, Savannah and its Environs, Album 1l (1773-1897), 19.
Courtesy of the Georgia Historical Society.



Brewton supplemented the revenue he earned from rice by establishing

a ferry service across the Savannah River to the Rochester plantation in
South Carolina in 1766. The fees he charged were dictated by colonial
authorities — one shilling per person; one shilling sixpence per horse; for a
carriage, nine pence per wheel; and four pence each for sheep, calves, and
hogs. In return, Brewton was obliged to maintain a road through his rice
fields for passengers and livestock to access the ferry. For the next century,
the ferry was a major transit point across the river, popularly called the
Rochester Ferry at first and then Screven’s Ferry.!!

The years prior to the American Revolution proved Miles Brewton’s shrewd

investment instincts correct — his Georgia rice plantations, especially the
original 500 acre tract purchased from Jonathan Bryan,
prospered. As conflict with Britain intensified, both
Brewton and Bryan joined with the patriots and each paid
dearly for that choice. Brewton drowned while voyaging

to Philadelphia where he intended to represent South
Carolina at the Second Continental Congress. Bryan took
up arms against the British and was captured at age seventy
and released only after enduring more than two years of
imprisonment.!?

Veoa

If Miles Brewton did not live to see the revolution succeed,
his name lived on at the Georgia properties he so seldom
visited. The most striking physical feature of his lower
Savannah River holdings was a ridge, perhaps thirty feet
high, that Jonathan Bryan dubbed Walnut Hill. Set back
from the rice fields reclaimed from the swamp, the ridge
became known over time as “Brewton Hill.” When the
surrounding property was sold after the revolution by
Miles Brewton’s family, the plantation itself took on the
name Brewton Hill. The Turckenham portion of the estate
also underwent an inadvertent name change thanks to an
unknown mapmaker who identified the lands as “Twick-
enham.”!3

Another plantation carved out of the Brewton estate
was Deptford Hill. Nichol Turnbull, who purchased the
land east of Brewton Hill in 1792, was among the more
enterprising of Savannah River planters. He expanded

CROSSROADS

agricultural production to include both rice and cotton and sold wharf
lots for commercial use in an area he designated as “New Deptford.” In
1808, the United States government bought one of Turnbull’s deep-water
wharf lots in order to build a defensive fortification on the river. With the
outbreak of the War of 1812, the new stronghold of Fort Jackson took on
strategic significance. Over thirty years of thoughtful management and
diversification at Deptford Hill ended with Turnbull’s death in 1823, but
his aspiration for the plantation’s future was clearly evident in his will.

He counseled his son to re-invest profits to sustain the agricultural and
the commercial enterprises. By 1830, however, Deptford Hill was on the
auction block to satisfy creditors.!* A succession of owners took their turn
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Fig. 5: Included in the inventory of the estate of Dr. James Proctor Screven were lists of the Brewton Hill slaves.

Indenture between Thomas F. Screven, George P. Screven and John Screven, 24 May 1860, Deed Book 3T 514, rec. 11 October 1860,
Superior Court Records, CCCH.
Courtesy of the Chatham County Court House.
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Fig. 6: Women as well as men worked in the rice fields, especially during the critical
harvest time. Workers used sickles, called rice hooks, to cut the stalks. Leah and Sarah,
enslaved females at Brewton Hill, in all likelihood wielded the rice hooks in harvesting Dr.
Screven’s crop.

"Reaping,” Harper's Weekly, cph 3b24156.
Courtesy of the Library of Congress.

at Deptford, as it came to be known, but none left their mark so clearly on
the development of the plantation before the Civil War as Turnbull.

The family with the longest tenure at Brewton Hill was the Screven clan.
The patriarch, Dr. James Proctor Screven, had wide-ranging interests

in politics and business that extended beyond his medical practice. In
Savannah, he was an alderman and pioneering founder of the Savannah,
Albany & Gulf Railroad, as well as serving as Georgia state senator from
Chatham County.!> When he purchased Brewton Hill in 1843 for the
bargain price of $14,000, Georgia was entering its most productive period

of rice cultivation. Property values and rice profits peaked during the
1840s and 1850s before the outbreak of the Civil War caused the market
to decline. Dr. Screven died in 1859 before the bubble burst and an
inventory of his assets at Brewton Hill showed how lucrative the plantation
had become. The land itself, 200 acres of rice land and 165 acres of high
ground, had appreciated in value to $46,600.1° The forty-one slaves at the
plantation were appraised at more than $28,000. Six men, aged twenty-
four to forty, Florida Jem, Abram, John, Swamp Jemmy, Jacob, and
Florida Davy, were valued at $1,200 each, while thirty-year-old Emanuel
commanded $1,400. The steam threshing rice mill on the premises as well
as livestock, boats, and tools boosted the total worth of Brewton Hill to
over $54,000.17

Dr. Screven’s world died with him. His three sons, John, Thomas, and
George, inherited Brewton Hill but after the Civil War they were to find in
their Savannah River property new economic opportunities unimagined by
their father.

At Deptford, rice production continued by fits and starts from 1865 until
the turn of the century. A hopeful William Carmichael built a fine home
for himself there when he bought the property shortly after the war. The
frame house he constructed was a statement of his commitment to improve
Deptford and make a comfortable living from rice. A rice mill, stables,
large barn, and other outbuildings confirmed his intent. For the black men
who worked his fields there was a settlement comprised of twenty two-
room cabins. Free in the eyes of the law, the African American laborers

still lived and worked in substandard conditions. Each cabin housed seven
or eight men, a total of 146 in the settlement. Carmichael wagered his
plantation on a comeback of the rice market and he lost. Hurricanes in
1893 and 1898 persuaded subsequent owners of Deptford to abandon rice
cultivation altogether.!®

THE AMERICAN REVOLUTIONARY WAR

As predictable as the river and its tidal flow appeared to rice planters, the
river highway made Savannah vulnerable to invasion. The enemy, whether
Spanish, British or Yankee, real or perceived, was expected to arrive from
the east by way of the river. For that reason, the lands east of Savannah had
a military significance that cannot be overshadowed by their plantation
beginnings.



Slave Cabins, ca. 1883-1893, William Ernest Wilson Photo Archive, MS 993, Box 1, Folder 65.
Courtesy of Hargrett Rare Book and Manuscript Library, University of Georgia Libraries.

The colonists’ war with Britain was more than three years old when a new
Southern strategy was implemented by the British in hopes of tapping

into the Loyalist base in South Carolina and Georgia. Savannah was

the first target of the new offensive. On December 29, 1778, the 71%
Regiment of Scots Highlanders, under the command of Lt. Col. Archibald
Campbell, came ashore at the ferry landing at Brewton Hill. They marched
unopposed on the road intended for ferry passengers and made their way
just east of what is now the intersection of Wheaton Street and Waters

A

Fig. 7: Even the photographer who took this picture of Carmichael’s Deptford settlement mistakenly identified these buildings as slave cabins.

CROSSROADS

Avenue. Gen. Robert Howe with about 600 men stood ready to defend
Savannah about 1,000 yards to the west, roughly at the intersection of
Randolph and Wheaton Streets. Campbell manipulated Howe to think
the British would attack the American left, while in fact sending his light
infantry by a secret path through the swamp to outflank the Americans
on the right. The British, greatly outnumbering the patriots, seized the
advantage and Howe retreated. In the pursuit that followed at least 100



10

American soldiers died and 450 Savannahians (including Jonathan Bryan)
were captured. Savannah came under British occupation.!?

Such a blow could not be ignored by the Americans. Not only was
Savannah a valuable port but the presence of the British in Georgia

posed an ever present threat to the patriot cause in South Carolina and
Charleston. By the fall of 1779, an international force of Americans,
French, and Haitians assembled to liberate Savannah. The French
squadron, under the command of Charles-Henri, count d’Estaing,
contributed the most firepower to the effort — twenty-two ships of the line,
ten frigates and 4,000 French and Haitian soldiers on board. The naval
assault of Savannah that d’Estaing envisioned failed to materialize owing
to the ships sunk in the river to block their passage. But the advantage still
lay with the allies, possessing overwhelming numbers of soldiers especially
after the arrival of the American force led by Gen. Benjamin Lincoln. On
September 16, d’Estaing demanded the British Gen. Augustin Prevost to
surrender. Prevost asked for time to consider his options; in fact, he stalled
in hopes that reinforcements from Beaufort — 800 soldiers from the 715
Regiment of Scots Highlanders — would arrive.2’

The French took advantage of the high ground of Brewton Hill to establish
a lookout post on September 16. That very evening, boats filled with
Highlanders were spotted coming upriver through the rain to Savannah.
The next morning, d’Estaing and Lincoln came to Brewton Hill to see for
themselves. They witnessed the last of the Scots disembarking in Savannah.
D’Estaing was appalled at this unexpected turn of events; he could not
believe that Lincoln fell asleep in his arm chair watching.?!

A siege of the city seemed to be the only honorable course left to d’Estaing.
One French ship managed to come within range to bombard Savannah

but the British stubbornly did not budge. Finally, d’Estaing ordered an
attack for the early morning of October 9. The battle that unfolded was
the bloodiest since Bunker Hill in 1775. In less than an hour, the French
lost more than 500 wounded and killed, the Americans in excess of 200. It
was a crushing defeat for the allied forces and Savannah remained in British
hands for the remainder of the war.??

French soldiers retreated to Thunderbolt and Causton Bluff where they
boarded ships to depart. The French, however, would not be the last men
in uniform who passed by the Savannah River plantations. Throughout

the Civil War, both the ridge and the plantation of Brewton Hill played an
integral part in the defense of Savannah.

THE CIVIL WAR

Standing vigilant against all invaders from the east was Fort Pulaski. Its
brick walls, seven-and-one-half feet thick, had been built in the 1830s

to repel cannon of whatever size. A Union bombardment in April 1862
breached those walls with the new technology of rifled cannon, forcing a
Confederate surrender. Only twelve miles separated Savannah from the
enemy now that “impregnable” Pulaski flew the stars and stripes.?3

Even before the fall of Pulaski, engineer William R. Boggs designed an
interior line of defensive fortifications for the city. From the river east of
Savannah to Laurel Grove Cemetery in the west, Boggs envisioned a line
of forts linked by gun emplacements to guard the doorstep of the city.
Construction of this arc of fortifications began shortly after the outbreak
of war in 1861 and was completed by 1864. Anchoring the east side was a
large earthen stronghold with fourteen guns on the ridge of Brewton Hill,
fittingly named in honor of Boggs. To the south of Fort Boggs stood Fort
Brown at the Catholic Cemetery, near the intersection of Skidaway Road
and East Gwinnett Street.

As a smaller fortification mounting only eleven guns, Fort Brown was
nonetheless strategically placed to safeguard the road between Savannah
and Thunderbolt. Linking Fort Boggs and Fort Brown were seven lunettes,
or crescent-shaped mounds of earth, equipped with a total of eight guns.?4

Confederate engineers in Savannah preferred forts constructed of earth

and sand after seeing the devastating results of rifled cannon fire on the
brick of Fort Pulaski. Earthworks withstood the impact of direct hits far
better than brick and were easily repaired. However, moving tons of sandy
soil to form gun emplacements required a large labor force. Although state
troops were put to work on construction at first, by 1862 loaned slaves
became the principal source of labor. Some planters refused to give up their
workers so the forcible seizure of slaves, known as “impressment,” allowed
the state government to draft the laborers. More than 2,000 enslaved men
were at work building Savannah fortifications by 1863, with or without the
consent of their masters.?>

Misery was the lot of the men assigned to Fort Boggs. Black men with
picks and shovels or men in gray with rifles suffered from malaria, typhoid,



B 2

i
h
1

»—-———~—4} oerT

Mg

LR g

SEEEE
A \ c s |
g?é%‘géi | It TE PAGEvCiE
{CO O T8 | e e
: 13@5‘@]@" ==
Sl e T P
o = S T =
s TEUA %
‘D"éD 5 R 3
s | e e N
IS S J
VIR R Bht
e a f w
Zngea bl
= e
ZIE%EZEE
WwEE
J:
B
fue e | e |
B9
Ses=l

LI LI L
I ﬁ[g@jﬂ[ﬁﬂﬂ

e

JE=E P | CF‘:\F
e s o s 8 Ve _JL
i =
30 oz
= i |
10

gm

= /7

LI

T

]

0
=

=
Bl
fEE]

0

B
=

g
¢ &

e e

Fig. 8: The dotted lines on this 1917 map indicate the location of Fort Boggs and the
Confederate lunettes in the context of modern Savannah. Although Fort Brown is not
labeled, its presence is suggested by lines crossing the Golf Club, the Catholic Cemetery
and Thunderbolt Road.
Detail, Gardner’s Map of the City of Savannah and Vicinity, 1917, G3.

Courtesy of Hargrett Rare Book and Manuscript Library, University of Georgia Libraries.
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Fig. 9: In 1864, the Confederate Engineer Department impressed Ned, a thirty-seven-year-
old slave, belonging to James Frazer, who worked with the Central of Georgia Railway in
Savannah. The receipt given to Frazer was dated December 10, 1864, only days before
Gen. William T. Sherman entered the city.

Papot Family Papers, MS 1792, Folder 1.
Courtesy of the Georgia Historical Society.

and what was called “river cholera” or dysentery. Maj. William Starr
Basinger of the Savannah Volunteer Guards tried to ward off malaria at
Fort Boggs by giving his sentries a belt of whiskey laced with chopped
garlic every night. His remedy had no effect; every man in his battalion
came down with malaria except himself.2® Unaware that swarms of hungry
mosquitoes carried disease, many blamed their sickness on the miasma,
the heavy air of the swamp. Another concern was an outbreak of measles
in 1862. Gen. G.A. Mercer feared that construction progress on the forts
might be jeopardized when slaves contracted measles in August of that
yeur 2

Despite all the hardships of building Fort Boggs, Major Basinger took
pride in the fort on Brewton Hill. It was, in his words, “one of the finest
field works constructed on either side during the war.”?® Ironically, neither
Fort Boggs nor Fort Brown saw any action. In fact, as Gen. William T.
Sherman approached Savannah from the wesz, many guns from the eastern
fortifications were transferred to the defensive line on the west side of the
city.?? Even if no combat occurred on the eastside, the granite headstones

11



Ld

THE WAR IN AMERICA: THE TOWXN AXD PORTIFICATIONS OF SAVANNAH.—FROM A SKETCH BY OUR SPECIAL ARTIST.

Fig. 10: Frank Vizetelly, the artist/special correspondent from The lllustrated London News, portrayed slaves building the earthen defensive works of Fort Boggs in this drawing
published in 1863.The high ground of Brewton Hill is evident as the fort commands the view over the low-lying marsh.

The lllustrated London News, 18 April 1863, 432.
Courtesy of Robert McAlister.

at Catholic Cemetery that mark the resting places of the more than 500
Confederate veterans are silent witnesses to the conflict.3?

CONCLUSION

Fort Boggs and Fort Brown are among the forgotten guardians of Civil War
Savannah. Although some remnants of Fort Brown and the breastworks

are still visible at the Savannah Golf Course, Hillcrest Memorial Park, and
the Shuman Elementary School campus, traces of Fort Boggs have largely
disappeared. In much the same way, underbrush or pavement obscure the
artifacts of the Revolutionary War or Native Americans. George Oelschig,
whose family home was situated on part of the Fort Brown site, found

a cannon ball as a boy. He carried his trophy home, only to have it slip
through his fingers and drop on the floor. Fortunately, there was a thud,
not an explosion.?! Buttons, coins and other Civil War artifacts have come
to light. A boy playing baseball at the diamond at Savannah Gardens in
the 1950s idly dug his toe in the dirt, only to discover a ring embossed
with the Confederate battle flag on its side. More ancient reminders of
the earliest inhabitants have also been unearthed. Arrowheads and pottery
shards have also been found near the Savannah Golf Club and in Pine
Gardens.?? The sandy soil gives up some of its secrets, all part of the rich
history of eastside neighborhoods.
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READERS OF THE SAVANNAH TRIBUNE in April 1914 were bound to notice the Atlantic Coast
Realty Company’s eye-catching headline advertising an auction for “ideal residential” lots for African
American homebuyers. A hard-hitting sales pitch followed: “These two things we should all remember

..there is no more land being made and the ‘Early Bird catches the worm.”” Lawton Terrace lots in
eastern Savannah were on the auction block with affordable terms. “High dollar talks” to claim “the
best property ever offered to the colored people of Savannah.”!

For whatever reasons, the black working men and professional men targeted by the advertisement did
not act on what the realty company touted as a “golden opportunity.” Lawton Terrace, however, had
much to commend it. Located just north of Wheaton Street and west of the Catholic Cemetery, this
area was prime for development as Savannah expanded east. Workers commuting downtown would
have only a short walk to the Base Ball Park stop on the Thunderbolt streetcar line.? The area south
of Wheaton Street was already built up with homes and shops, and, on the north side of Wheaton,
white families were beginning to move into a new subdivision, Wagner Heights. However, portions

of Lawton Terrace were low-lying and flood prone, a serious drawback for potential homeowners to
consider.

1

IDEAL RES]DENTIAL COLORED PROPERTY AT AUGTION |
Wednesday and Thursday, ‘April 1st and 2nd, 10:30 a. m.

Fig. 2: Headline.

Savannah Tribune, 21 March 1914, 8.
Courtesy of the Savannah Tribune, with the assistance of Savannah State University.

-

Even if the anticipated sales at Lawton Terrace did not materialize, the Atlantic Coast Realty Company
demonstrated it understood the underlying premise of Savannah residential property. Defining charac-
teristics of home sites were not only economic but racial as well.

EARLY NEIGHBORHOOD DEVELOPMENT

The potential for African American neighborhood development on the eastside was first recognized by
Charles J. Hull of Chicago. He invested heavily in outlying property near Savannah during the 1870s,
both to the west at Woodville and to the east. He purchased Farm Lot No. 6 in Reynolds Ward which
became the core of the East Savannah neighborhood, from Iowa Street south to East Gwinnett Street.
During the late1880s and 1890s, a number of individuals purchased home sites from Hull or his heir
Helen Culver, including July Robinson, Adam Morrell, and Anna Etta Robinson.?
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Fig. 1: The Savannah, Thunderbolt, & Isle of Hope streetcar line
served eastern Savannah from 1892 to 1902. 15

Georgia Historical Society Photograph Collection, MS 1361-PH, Box 17, Folder 3.
Courtesy of the Georgia Historical Society.
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Charles Baker, an emerging African American entrepreneur, bought a
sizable portion of Hull’s subdivision. Between 1874 and 1890, he acquired
thirty-eight lots scattered on Iowa, Auburn, Gable, and Mosley Streets.*

In addition to his monetary investment in East Savannah, Baker became

a leader in the community, serving as one of the charter deacons of First
African Baptist Church of East Savannah when it was founded in 1897.5
He kept his real estate holdings largely intact till the end of his days. In

his will, he described his wealth as “the property [with] which a kind
providence has blessed me.” His daughters, Carrie Baker and Susan Baker
Robinson, inherited the bulk of his estate after his death around 1904.6 As
the surviving sister, Susan Robinson sold the legacy from her father in 1918
to David Stedman for “five dollars and valuable services rendered.””
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Fig. 3: Above is an excerpt of Charles Baker’s will which he signed in a shaky hand in
November, 1890.

Probate Court, #1149.
Courtesy of the Probate Court, Chatham County Court House.

Instead of large-scale development, the East Savannah neighborhood grew
one house at a time. Elizabeth and Peter Bennett’s home on Hanson Street
was built about the turn of the twentieth century by her father, Joseph
Heyward of Johns Island, South Carolina. It was the same wooden house
that Heyward constructed for his wife and children years before. With

the passing of his wife, Joseph Heyward decided to give the house to his
daughter Elizabeth in Savannah. Moving a house seventy-five miles he
thought was only a small inconvenience. So, he dismantled the house,
built a raft, floated the lumber to Savannah, and reassembled the house on
Hanson Street. For decades, the house stood at 2243 Hanson Street and
was torn down in the 1990s.8

As East Savannah began to establish itself as a neighborhood in the
1880s and 1890s, another black community was built near what is today

President Street under the
auspices of the Savannah,
Florida & Western (SF&W)
Railway. African Americans
hired as stevedores stowing
cargo and as laborers hauling
lumber at the SF&W wharf
on the Savannah River
lacked inexpensive lodgings
within walking distance. In
1885, Robert LePage, the
wharf manager, took it upon
himself to build a workers’
village to meet these needs.
Clearing a ten-acre tract east
of the wharf provided ample
space for what LePage envisioned as 108 two-room houses with garden
plots, plus seven large garden tracts to be rented out to interested residents.
By 1888, thirty-five houses had been built and occupied, with five more
under construction. The village echoed its company origins, with its eight
streets named after railroad executives and employees. Plant Street was

the east-west road fronting just north of the Tybee Railroad, while Haines
Street, named after the general manager, was the major north-south road
and the site of the Methodist church. The village was known as LePageville
in honor of its founder.?

l»j‘;r‘;w“w S S S TG P

Fig. 4: 2243 Hanson Street.
Courtesy of Victoria Bryant.

In the 1880s and 1890s, the workers’ village at LePageville hummed with
the activity of everyday life. Men worked at the railroad wharf while the
women tended to the children and perhaps worked outside the home as
cooks or laundresses. Gardens near the houses provided fresh vegetables
for families and some extra money when the produce was sold. However,
in 1893, the survival of the village was threatened by a hurricane that
ravaged Savannah on August 27. The wind and the storm surge wreaked
havoc from Tybee to Savannah, uprooting trees, ripping away wharves,
blowing in windows, and carrying off roofs and chimneys. The Savannah
Morning News reported, “all the lands adjacent to the river for miles above
and below the city are under water.” In the midst of this devastation,
LePageville was spared, thanks to its elevation on the bluff.!0
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Fig. 5: This street map, ca. 1956, shows Wagner Heights wedged between Wheaton Street and Hillcrest Cemetery. Although street names in Wagner Heights did not change over the
years, many streets further east were renamed in the late 1950s.

Georgia Historical Society Map Collection, Detail, MS 1361-MP, #443 SAV.
Courtesy of the Georgia Historical Society.
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In contrast to the housing erected at LePageville for railroad workers,
perhaps a mile away, stood an antebellum farmhouse, a remnant of the
area’s rural past. In the fields north of Wheaton Street, German immigrants
Ann and Rudolph Reinhard built the two-story farmhouse by hand in the
1840s, using heart pine, forged nails, and wooden pegs. Practical in design,
somewhat larger than comparable farmhouses at 1,900 square feet, the
house opened to a porch on each floor to catch the breeze.!!

The sixteen acres the Reinhards cleared, planted, and improved with
barns and outbuildings diminished in size over time. Half of the property
was purchased by the Rt. Rev. Francis X. Gartland, Bishop of Savannah,
in 1853 for the new Catholic Cemetery.!? By 1912, the subdivision of
Wagner Heights wedged into the space between the Reinhard farm and
Wheaton Street, cementing ties between the farm and the subdivision that
lasted for eighty years.

Wagner Heights grew out of the flurry of neighborhood planning and
development in eastern Savannah early in the twentieth century. The Carl
Mendel Real Estate and Investment Company began selling lots in Wagner
Heights to white families, mounting an advertising campaign to draw
attention to the small subdivision six blocks long and two blocks deep.!3
Directly across Wheaton Street from Wagner Heights was the Base Ball
Park and the Mendel Company capitalized on that fact to advertise on the
outfield fence, “After the game, Visit Wagner Heights.”14

In spite of advertising and a convenient location near the streetcar line,
home construction in Wagner Heights was sporadic in the early years. Even
by the mid-1930s, almost half of the lots were vacant, especially those on
the eastern end further from town. Despite its small population, Wagner
Heights became, to some degree, an enclave of families of German descent.
Streets named Helmken, Mastick, and Wagner honored prominent
German families in Savannah and neighborhood residents included the
Hohnerlein, Innecken, and Walz families. The children of the neigh-
borhood loved to stop at the Walz confectionary at the corner of Henrietta
and Wheaton Streets in the 1930s. Paul Aimar still remembers the 3¢ sodas
he bought from Mrs. Gottliebe Walz.!?

In the spring of 1914, the Twickenham Development Company
announced to investors and white homebuyers, “Savannah is growing
eastward.” Select homesites were available at Twickenham Terrace, a new

-
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Fig. 6: 114 Adair Street, Wagner Heights, ca. 1934.

Cordray-Foltz Collection, MS 1360, Box 9, Folder 4.
Courtesy of the Georgia Historical Society.

)

Fig. 7: James Robert Fulcher and his family moved to Lawton Avenue in 1919. He poses
with his children, John, Ralth, Sarah, Demmond, baby James Rollo, and Robert, in their
new back yard.

Courtesy of Larry Jenkins.
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subdivision adjacent to the Savannah Golf Club on Garrard Avenue, now
Goebel Street. The pitch was carefully crafted. Twickenham Terrace was
close to downtown, less than fifteen minutes by streetcar to Broughton
Street, but far enough away to escape “the heat of the city.” Homes had
urban conveniences such as city water and a half-mile of paved streets, but
the area was “swept by refreshing salt breezes.” To clinch the deal, there

H OU STING

Thunderbolt Battery had the responsibility of defending against an enemy
landing that could approach the city by way of the road. Time obscured
the road’s identity as it assumed different names over time. Briefly known
as Moore Avenue in the 1940s, today’s Wheaton Street and Skidaway
Road remained Savannah’s primary highway to the east until well into the
twentieth century.

would be no interest or taxes for four years. The
customer could choose to purchase a lot or a
newly-constructed house.!®

s 4/730°. &

Mary and Luther Fountain were among the early
residents of Twickenham Terrace, settling into
their new home on Lawton Avenue in 1917.
Luther Fountain had worked for Standard Oil
since 1912 and the new subdivision was much
more convenient to his job near the river than
his former residence on West Gaston Street. A
growing family also figured into the couple’s
decision to move into more spacious quarters.
Twins, their eleventh and twelfth children,

were born in the living room of the new house
in 1918, although only one of the infants, a

son James, survived. The tragedy was all too
familiar to the Fountains, who had lost five other
children during their early years. The house

on Lawton Avenue remained in the family for

nearly seven decades. A reminder of those first

Fountain children surfaced when Terry Tindol,
Luther Fountain’s granddaughter, found childish
scrawl on the walls of the Lawton Avenue home
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while stripping paint.!’

STREETS AND ROADS
The colonial-era highways that linked Savannah ' \
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to points eastward were Thunderbolt Road

7

and Causton Bluff Road. Thunderbolt Road,
also called the Sea Island Road during colonial
times, connected Savannah to desirable access
on the Wilmington River. In the Civil War, the

today is Goebel Avenue.
Catholic Cemetery Deeds File.

Fig. 8: This map dating to 1853 clearly shows the divergence of Thunderbolt and Causton Bluff Roads. The southern
segment of Thunderbolt Road corresponds to Skidaway Road today, while the portion of Causton Bluff Road on this map

Courtesy of the Catholic Diocese of Savannah Archives.
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AT HOME

Single-family residences were
the norm in East Savannah,
Twickenham, and Wagner
Heights neighborhoods before
1940. Some homeowners
served as their own contractors
and built homes to their
specifications.

Fig. 9: This home at 509
Treat Avenue in East
Savannah is distinctive
for the ironwork that
decorates its exterior.

Photograph by Geoff L.
Johnson.

Fig. 10: A bungalow-
type home, 101
Helmken Street in
Wagner Heights,
dates from the
1920s.

Photograph by Geoff L.
Johnson.

Fig. 11: Two-

story homes, like
this American
Foursquare-type
house at 1806 East
Gwinnett Street,
were more common
in Twickenham
than either East
Savannah or
Wagner Heights.

Courtesy of
Doris Blessington.



Causton Bluff Road originally forked off of Thunderbolt Road, roughly
following Goebel Avenue north until it turned east towards Causton

Bluff. Originally a plantation owned by Thomas Causton, the bluff also
had military significance during the Civil War where Fort Bartow stood
watch over the river. Whether the current Causton Bluff Road lies in the
original roadbed is uncertain, but it follows the general path of the colonial
highway.

Two other major thoroughfares emerged in the twentieth century, Pennsyl-
vania Avenue and President Street Extension. Pennsylvania Avenue was
nothing more than a “two-rut road” in the 1930s with little development.
During World War II, Pennsylvania Avenue became a major north-south
artery between President Street Extension and East Gwinnett Street. Strate-
gically located in or near Pine Gardens, Twickenham, Savannah Gardens,
and East Savannah neighborhoods, Pennsylvania Avenue became a small
business corridor for adjacent residential areas.

In the 1930s, President Street Extension was built with funding from

the Works Progress Administration (WPA) and the Georgia Highway
Department. As a result of the new construction, two houses in LePageville
in the path of the new road were designated for relocation. President Street
funneled traffic to Southeastern Shipyard during the war and divided

the manufacturing and industrial corridor from residential areas in Pine
Gardens.!8

Although oyster shell pavement surfaced a few roadbeds in eastern
Savannah, any kind of paved roads was the exception until well into the
twentieth century. In the 1930s, there was a “tar road” on what is today
Goebel Avenue, pock-marked by holes at regular intervals caused by
truck traffic en route to the city dump on President Street. Paving was
still unusual on the eastside at that time, so that residents marveled at
the asphalting and widening of Wheaton Street, between Waters Avenue
to Skidaway Road, in 1939. Pennsylvania Avenue remained a dirt road
even after the opening of Josiah Tattnall Homes in 1942. Sister Lillian
Quadrella, a toddler who lived at Tattnall Homes on a corner of Pennsyl-
vania Avenue, was terrified when the grading equipment rumbled and
scraped its way down the dirt street on a regular basis.!?

Although the major thoroughfares were paved by 1950, residential streets
remained dusty when the sun shone or muddy when it rained. What stalled

H OUSTING
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Fig. 12: Mary and Willie Roberson, residents of East Savannah since 1957, enjoy a laugh
after an interview at Treat Park in June 2010.
Photograph by Geoff L. Johnson.

paving in many cases was the fact that homeowners had to agree to pay a
share of the cost. In Wagner Heights, mothers of the neighborhood lobbied
for street paving and succeeded in persuading homeowners to invest in
better streets during the late 1950s and early 1960s. In Twickenham and
Pine Gardens, streets were paved by the mid-1960s, although the neigh-
borhoods at times resembled a patchwork quilt of paved and sandy streets
as homeowners on one block agreed to pay the assessment but the next
block refused.?? In East Savannah, Mary Roberson remembers when
streets resembled sandpits and cars sometimes got stuck, with spinning
wheels digging deeper into the sand. Willie Roberson, the President of the
East Savannah Community Association in the 1990s, made paving the
neighborhood streets his mission. “When it rained,” said Mr. Roberson,
“we couldn’t hardly travel on the dirt streets.” He collaborated with

his alderman, Ellis Cook, not only to pave the streets but to construct
sidewalks on Treat Avenue.?!
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STREETCARS

One advantage eastside neighborhoods enjoyed from the beginning was
streetcar service. The Coast Line Rail Road, in operation by 1875, initially
ran to Thunderbolt and included stops at Catholic and Bonaventure
Cemeteries. Once the Savannah Golf Club opened in 1900, Coast Line
added it as one of its scheduled stops. The line paralleled Wheaton and
Gwinnett Streets, then diverted southeast towards Thunderbolt through
the Gordonston and Avondale neighborhoods.?? For much of its existence,
Coast Line used horses and mules to draw its open-air passenger cars as

a cost-saving measure. By 1887, steam locomotives powered Coast Line
Streetcars.

After Coast Line succumbed to financial difficulties in 1892, the
Thunderbolt route became part of the Savannah, Thunderbolt, & Isle of
Hope Railroad, then the Savannah Electric Company system ten years
later. In 1928, the Savannah Electric and Power Company acquired the
streetcar line.”> What did not change, however, was the value that eastside
residents derived from relatively cheap and easy access to the city. In East
Savannah, Coast Line provided churchgoers transportation to First African
Baptist Church at Franklin Square, an especially important function
considering the neighborhood had no church of its own until 1897. Until
the last streetcar run in 1946, trolleys carried students to school, employees
to downtown jobs, and shoppers to Broughton Street. Quick connections
to downtown were stressed by the Twickenham Development Company

to lure homebuyers eastward, noting that the new neighborhood was
served by “fast cars all day and half the night.”?* With the opening of the
Savannah Golf Club and the Forest City Gun Club in the Hillcrest and
Twickenham neighborhoods between 1900 and 1906, trolleys also brought
sportsmen to the eastside, giving the area added visibility.

SHIPYARD HOUSING

With the outbreak of World War II in Europe in 1939, it was evident

that large numbers of ships would be needed for the merchant marine.
Savannah was selected as a shipbuilding center and, at the peak of its
production, more than 15,000 employees reported to the shipyard every
day. Even before Savannah Shipbuilding Inc. (SSI) began construction on
the shipyard in 1941, the challenge of housing its workforce was under
discussion. Originally, plans called for five- to six-room frame houses to be
built in Twickenham Annex east of Screven Avenue between East Gwinnett

and Elgin Streets with another tract between Capitol and Elgin Streets east
of Pennsylvania Avenue. But, like many of SSI’s plans, this project never
materialized. In 1942, however, the Federal Works Administration autho-
rized the construction of 1,750 housing units for defense workers when
Southeastern Shipyard took control of the yard. Clearing the land and
construction for the first project, Josiah Tattnall Homes, began in August.?’
According to the schedule established by the Daniel Construction
Company, framing the exterior walls of each structure, housing one or
more families, required only one hour and fifteen minutes. Pre-fabricated
units made this amazing assembly speed possible. It was also understood
that these homes were for wartime use only; once peace returned, Josiah
Tattnall Homes would be torn down.2¢

Located between Twickenham and East Savannah neighborhoods, bisected
by Pennsylvania Avenue, the design hallmark of Tattnall Homes was the
use of curving streets. Crescent Drive, for example, loops in a horseshoe
shape across Pennsylvania Avenue, while 3rd, 4th, and 5th Streets gently
curved off Nevada Street. Shipyard workers had their choice of one-, two-,
three-, or four-bedroom duplexes, complete with plastered walls, hardwood
floors, kitchen and bath linoleum, gas stoves and hot water heaters,

and coal-fired circulating heaters. With a critical shortage of housing in
Savannah, families snapped up the 750 units immediately when they
became available early in 1943. Rent per month, including utilities, ranged
from $32 for a one-bedroom duplex to $40.50 for the largest unit with
four bedrooms.?”

Although the apartments at Josiah Tattnall and later shipyard housing
developments were reserved for defense workers at Southeastern, African
American employees were excluded. White and black Americans had been
hired to help win the war, but their collaboration did not extend beyond
quitting time.?

Among the first white residents to move into Josiah Tattnall Homes in
January 1943 was the Page family from Soperton. William Page gave up
farming for a job as a security guard at the shipyard. He and his wife,
Madie, and their seven children were thrilled with their spacious four-
bedroom duplex on 1st Street that seemed palatial in comparison to their
tenant cottage in Treutlen County. For the first time, the family had
running water, indoor plumbing, and electricity. The family shared their
accommodations with Mr. Page’s three brothers who also found work at
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RIDING THE RAILS

Streetcars provided affordable transportation and plenty of fresh air at no extra charge. Mrs. A.C. Oelschig also had a convenient delivery service with
streetcars in the 1890s. Vendors from City Market put Mrs. Oelschig’s order on the streetcar and she met the car promptly to retrieve her groceries.

Fig. 13: Streetcar tokens
issued by Savannah
Electric and Power
Company were sold
three for 25¢ in 1930.
For children, the price

] ' N pEp | VAN I 4N 9 was 24 tickets for $1.00.
.\ ‘ ‘ ( ’.‘ - | | ) Courtesy of
B - B A [T i K . Doris Blessington.
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Fig. 14: Trolley

passengers watch the

Savannah streetscape

unfold.

Georgia Historical Society
Photograph Collection,
MS 1361-PH, Box 29,
Folder 1.

Courtesy of the Georgia
Historical Society.
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the shipyard. As soon as one brother got up to go to work on  yopuy tarmac wowsr

- " 3 s . DEFEN/C HOUSING Fn(.AEC'T e Ca 9 (43 .

the morning shift, his brother coming h(;;ne from the night TG oy [k jmsone . 3§
. sl 3 ) Ac g R ns A " ' <
shift found a warm bed waiting for him. NATIONAL "UOU[ING  ACENC ¢ B & i N

C IO O ne - .
FEDE DUBLIC HCUfINC  AUTHORIY . “_m\k

CLETUf W, DBEBGEN » = - CHILI ARCHITLCT
WALTEA B MARMALL + A[fOCIATE  ARCHITECT

Housing at Tattnall Homes was a godsend for Southeastern’s
white workers. Not only were workers close enough to the
shipyard to walk to work but the homes were designed with
families in mind. Large unfenced areas in the rear of homes
created a common back yard that the children claimed as
their own. Sister Lillian Quadrella remembers “crowds of
children in the neighborhood,” so there was no shortage

of playmates. Because both of her parents worked at the
shipyard, she attended the Children’s Center at Tattnall
Homes for day care. Her mother dropped her off at 6:15
a.m., in time to report for the first shift, and the little girl was

= T
. R AN G E ey e ; st RN
soon fast asleep on her own cot covered by a brown blanket. /. #eMErE . T : S < O >R
After breakfast, the children spent the rest of the day playing Fig. 15: In September 1942, this sketch gave the public the first glimpse of the plan for Josiah Tattnall Homes.
outdoors, listening to stories, singing songs, and napping. Savannah Evening Press, 30 September 1942, 10.

, . Courtesy of the Sav h Evening Press, with the assistance of Armst Atlantic State University.
The only moment the children dreaded was the daily dose ¥ AR EERIng FEs l e

of cod liver oil, followed by a glass of tomato juice or orange
juice to cut the taste. The association of cod liver oil with
orange juice was so strong in her memory that Sister Lillian
could not eat oranges for years afterwards. Parents picked up
their children about 5:45 p.m. after shift change. The weekly
charge for day care was $3 for each child, the cost subsidized
by federal funds.?®

Although families occupied most of the units at Tattnall
Homes, the housing shortage in Savannah necessitated some
creative space-sharing arrangements. Welder Chester White
and his wife took in J.B. Patterson as a boarder in their new
Tattnall Homes residence in 1943. Patterson knew how lucky
he was to find a place, especially one so close to the yard. All
three residents seemed satisfied with their lodgings. Chester
White said of Tattnall Homes, “one of the most comfortable
places I've ever lived in.”3!

Moses Rogers Grove, located at the intersection of President
Street and Wahlstrom Road, was the smallest of the new
housing projects for Southeastern’s white workers.

Fig. 16: Construction of the frame structures at Tattnall Homes was largely completed in four months.

Courtesy of Charles Varner.
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DAILY LIFE AT JOSIAH TATTNALL

Families flourished at Josiah Tattnall Homes where the rhythm of everyday life revolved around work inside and outside the home, children at play,
and a chance to relax at the end of the day.

Fig. 19: In her small

but well-equipped

kitchen, Mrs. White
had all the tools she
needed to prepare
meals.

Georgia Historical Society
Photograph Collection,
MS 1361-PH, Box 6,
Folder 23.

Courtesy of the Georgia
Historical Society.
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Fig. 17: By 1950, residences on 5th Street were well established.

Georgia Historical Society Photograph Collection, MS 1361-PH, Box 6, Folder 21.
Courtesy of the Georgia Historical Society.

. . ‘.w'.»)g‘l;‘ g it |

)
% 4 f
| o (NS \
- ' ,
- L Y
Lty J |
4 =3
] | ‘ v
- ik o -
i A J \ s e
Fig. 20: Chester White, left, and J.B. Patterson :
Fig. 18: The playground and Children’s Center were located in the Josiah Tattnall Adminis- relaxed on the porch of their duplex with Mr. Fig. 21: At the Children’s Center
tration Building. White's bird dogs. playground, Sister Lillian
The Sou’Easter, 15 August 1944, Vol. 2, No. 11, 5. Cordray-Foltz Collection, MS 1360, Box 8, Folder 3. Quadrella enjoyed the swings.
Courtesy of Live Oak Public Libraries. Courtesy of the Georgia Historical Society. Courtesy of Sister Lillian Quadrella, RSM.
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center of Moses Rogers Grove.

Savannah Evening Press, 30 September 1942, 10.
Courtesy of the Savannah Evening Press, with the assistance of Armstrong Atlantic State University.
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Fig. 23: Less than three weeks into the construction process, the site of Moses Rogers
was organized for the most efficient use of time and materials. Workers were careful to
conserve the beautiful trees on the property.

Courtesy of Charles Varner.

Approximately 150 families moved into the two-story frame buildings

in February, 1943.32 With the new housing development literally next
door to the shipyard, it was only steps away from the Time Keeper’s Gate.
Its desirable location no doubt prompted this advertisement in the 75e
Sow’Easter: “WANTED: Room and board in the Moses Rogers Grove by a
young lady on the second shift.”3?

The last and largest of the housing developments was Deptford Place,
located one quarter mile from the shipyard, just south of President Street.
The first of 850 white families moved into Deptford Place in June 1943,
almost three months before the project was completely finished. Unlike
the frame structures of Josiah Tattnall and Moses Rogers, Deptford Place
consisted of one-story row houses built of cinderblocks because the avail-
ability of lumber became limited. Smaller in size and lacking in amenities,
Deptford Place provided less comfortable quarters than either Josiah
Tattnall Homes or Moses Rogers Grove. Better-off tenants at Deptford
might try to cover the concrete floors with linoleum, but nothing could be
done to soften the cinderblock walls. The only way to hang a picture was to
drive a nail into the mortar.34

Charlotte Serners, one of the first residents of Josiah Tattnall Homes,
recalls, “we enjoyed this neighborhood...as everyone was so friendly.”3>

A sense of community grew quickly in all three housing projects because
residents shared the experience of working for the shipyard. Children
helped to widen their parents’ circle of friends since playmates’ parents
quickly became acquainted. There were also a number of leisure activities
that served to introduce neighbors to each other. At Tattnall Homes, for
example, women signed up for courses offered by the Red Cross in first aid
and home nursing. They also volunteered as part of the war effort to make
surgical dressings to be used at the front. Tuesday night was movie night at
Deptford Place, a welcome treat because it was not always easy for families
to juggle working schedules and to find transportation to downtown
theaters. There were also community sings, family games, and women’s
craft lessons at Deptford. Church attendance suffered when the shipyard
operated seven days a week, so services were sometimes held at the Admin-
istration Buildings at Moses Rogers and Deptford. One Southeastern
employee, G.A. Strickland, hosted nondenominational prayer meetings at
his home on Greenwood Street in Pine Gardens.3¢



HOUJ STING

Fig. 24:In 1952,
Union Mission held
Sunday School

at the Adminis-
tration Building

at Deptford Place
and the response
of families with
young children was
overwhelming.

Courtesy of
Larry Usry.
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During the first summer that the new housing developments were

open, Tattnall Homes residents reported teenagers vandalizing cars and
loitering in the streets after dark. What they needed was a “talking to”
and something to do. A.D. Sharp, a boilermaker at the shipyard, became
scoutmaster for a new troop for boys aged twelve to sixteen who lived in
the area. With weekly meetings at the Tattnall Administration Building,
the boys had structured activities close to home. Moses Rogers Grove,
Deptford, and Tattnall all sponsored their own teenage recreation clubs
featuring dances and song fests to attract the younger crowd.?’

In August 1942, private developers incorporated to build a new housing
development named Pine Gardens. The seventy-five acres purchased
consisted of the 1900 and 2000 blocks from Beech to Liberty, essentially
the western part of the current neighborhood. Construction of the first
100 single-family homes began immediately, with another 300 houses
projected.>8

Houses went up quickly as pre-fabricated sections of the house were
nailed together and secured to the foundation. Although the homes were

. m—r— J

Fig. 25: Tattnall residents volunteered for a blood drive sponsored by the Red Cross in 1951.

Georgia Historical Society Photograph Collection, MS 1361-PH, Box 6, Folder 21.
Courtesy of the Georgia Historical Society.

basically square in shape, builders used three different floor plans calling
for three different entrances. Such design options avoided the monotonous,
“cookie-cutter” homes characteristic of some mid-century subdivisions.
Amenities included hardwood floors, fireplaces, attics, and asbestos siding
for fire protection. The homes in Pine Gardens are representative of the
Minimal Traditional type, also called the American Small House type.
More important, as neighborhood historian Charles Varner points out, is
the fact that Pine Gardens is the only intact housing development left from
the shipyard era.??

Rental fees for Pine Gardens homes ranged from $47.50 to $52.50
monthly, more expensive than any of the housing projects, but the cost
did not deter the better-paid white Southeastern employees.*’ Henry C.
Smith Jr. held one of the most responsible jobs at the yard as shipwright
foreman and he appreciated Pine Gardens’ convenient location to his
work. He and his wife, Florence, moved into a new home on New
Mexico Street. Dorothy Brown, known as “Dot” to her co-workers in the
Layout Department, lived on Greenwood Street. She served on the yard’s
“Committee of Girls” that dealt with issues affecting women employees.
Audrey Sanders, a nurse at Southeastern’s infirmary, chose a new home on
Liberty Street. As single women, Dot Brown and Audrey Sanders were the
exception in Pine Gardens where families predominated.! After the end of
the war, Pine Gardens residents were given the option of purchasing their
homes and many did so, planting permanent roots in the neighborhood.
Among the new homeowners were veterans, brought into the housing
market thanks to the G.I. Bill. For a few hundred dollars down at closing,
a house and a mortgage were within reach for little more than rental
payments. 2

The construction of new housing at Pine Gardens, Deptford Place,
Moses Rogers Grove, and Josiah Tattnall Homes transformed the eastside
because defense worker developments became permanent residences. The
“temporary” housing at Josiah Tattnall Homes was given an indefinite
lease on life because of the crushing shortage of housing after the war. In
September 1945, Tattnall Homes, as well as Deptford Place and Moses
Rogers Grove, were opened to veterans.4? Wartime housing brought not
only people to the eastside but created neighborhoods with businesses,
schools, even a fire station. These conveniences benefited not only new
residents but also the residents of older established neighborhoods in East
Savannah and Twickenham.
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Fig. 26: These Pine Garden homes, as they appeared in 1946, looked out over sandy
streets.

Cordray-Foltz Collection, MS 1360, Box 8, Folder 3.
Courtesy of the Georgia Historical Society.
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Fig. 27: Rufus Hatfield, a Southeastern Shipyard welder until he was drafted into the army
in 1943, stood with his brothers in 1946 on the front lawn of his new home on Hawthorne
Street in Pine Gardens. From left to right, the veterans were Rufus, Joel, George, and
Tyndal Hatfield.

Courtesy of Ray Hatfield.
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UNEVEN
DEVELOPMENT

The East Savannah neigh-
borhood bordered on
Josiah Tattnall Homes
and the contrast between
the housing in each area
was dramatic. The new
construction in the defense
housing included modern
conveniences such as
electricity and indoor
plumbing. Next door in
East Savannah, kerosene
lanterns and outhouses
were still the norm in the

1940s.

At that time, Fast Savannah
still lay outside of the city
S i - . - limits and the African

Fig. 28: Built in 1943, this fire station at the corner of American neighborhood

Pennsylvania Avenue and Capital Street protected had no electrical power, no

homes and property in new and old eastside neigh- running water, no indoor
borhoods.

Photograph by Geoff L. Johnson.

plumbing, and no home
mail delivery. Maggie
Baker moved to East
Savannah from Thunderbolt in 1940 and she remembers getting water for
her family from a pump in the back yard. Washing clothes was an ordeal

— hauling buckets of water, heating it in big pots, scrubbing away stains on
a washboard, and pressing the clothes with a “smoothing iron.” Mrs. Baker
took in laundry from Southeastern employees because, as her daughter
Janie notes proudly, “my mother could wash and iron anything.”44 People
managed without electricity by cooking on a wood stove, heating an iron
by placing it on the charcoal in the fireplace, and lighting their homes with
kerosene purchased at Mrs. Ladson’s confectionary on East Gwinnett Street
or from Mrs. Rivers’ store on Hanson Street. Even getting household mail
was difficult. Mary Roberson recalls walking to the corner of Pennsylvania
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Avenue and Louisiana Street where individual mail boxes were attached to
a large wagon wheel. %>

LePageville, the property of Atlantic Coast Line Railroad (ACL) since
1902, had far more serious housing problems. Accommodations at this
African American community in the 1940s had scarcely changed since the
time it was founded sixty years before. The houses were small, although
families sometimes added on a bedroom just big enough for the bed. One
pump provided the water for perhaps fifty houses, but catching rain water
in whatever containers were handy meant fewer buckets to haul from

the pump. Brick fireplaces were the source of heating; in some homes,
meals were cooked in the hearth. Only a short distance away stood Moses
Rogers Grove and the disparity between the housing for shipyard workers
and railroad workers was obvious, especially to the children who crossed
racial and economic lines to play together. As the private property of ACL,
LePageville was beyond the reach of county officials and housing codes.
Despite the poor conditions, black families who could afford only the few
dollars of rent charged by the railroad continued to live there.4¢

INFILL HOUSING AND SUBDIVISION EXPANSION

Many of the eastside neighborhoods experienced development in fits and
starts, creating pockets of new homes. The first wave of home building
in Twickenham ended in the early 1920s, with new homes clustered on

Goebel Avenue and East Gwinnett Street and scattered on Lawton Avenue.

The Forest City Gun Club occupied a sizable portion of Forrest Avenue
between Hale and Foster Streets until about 1925 and that land remained
sparsely settled for the next two decades.4” The rest of the interior streets
in Twickenham filled in on a sporadic basis. Dora and George Bishop
moved into their new home on Lawton Avenue on Thanksgiving 1934
with their fourteen-year-old daughter, Fannie Mae. With the addition of
the new Bishop home, there were then four homes standing on the west
side of the 500 block but across the street there was still plenty of room
for their neighbor, Mr. Walker, to grow “collard greens as big as baskets” in
his garden. The last house built in the 500 block was not constructed until
the mid-1960s.48 As new construction occupied vacant lots, Twickenham
streets lost their gap-toothed appearance.

In nearby Pine Gardens, the homes built for white shipyard workers
clustered on the neighborhood’s western side while Deptford Place

Fig. 29: A house in LePageville in 1967.

Photograph by Charles Henry.
Courtesy of Patricia Jenkins.
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Fig. 30:1n 1931, Gladys Black ajunior hlgh school student in TWIckenham |mag|ned what
LePageville might become in that distant year of 1950. If she could dream of big tops and
multi-storied buildings there, what she could not imagine changing was the LePageville
water pump.

Courtesy of Doris Blessington.



anchored the eastern edge of the neighborhood. In 1951, Pine Gardens
Annex, a new subdivision developed by William H. Whitehead, offered
new homes for sale in the middle ground between these two settled areas.
Located on land formerly used as a rosin yard, Pine Gardens Annex
consisted of homes of a size similar to the homes rented to Southeastern’s
white employees during the war. Described by the builder as “four-room-
and-bath bungalows,” the new houses had two bedrooms. Because these
homes qualified for 100 percent G.I. loans, Pine Gardens Annex attracted
white veterans.*® Many families who moved into the annex reconfigured
the original floor plan by adding on an extra bedroom and absorbing the
pantry space to create a larger kitchen.”®

In East Savannah, older black residents remember when only three houses

stood on lowa Street, and Hanson Street resembled fields nearby more than

a residential area. Fast Savannah remained so rural that Henry Robinson
as a boy worked in the fields that his father, Henry Robinson Sr., plowed
with an ox in the 1930s, not far from the family home on Gable Street.
For other children, the open space of the neighborhood was an invitation
to play and explore; even thirty years later, Lynette Ward Bridges and her
friends used a “big sandy field” behind Hanson Street as a playground.>!
It seemed as though East Savannah was immune from the development
occurring along its perimeter. Mary Roberson captures the mindset of the
time:

1 remember in the early ’50s. The property out here in East Savannah

was so cheap because it was dirt street and. .. a lot of it was undeveloped

and nobody was buying it. And they sold the lots for $250 a lot. ... I

was eighteen [and] my grandmother told me, You need to buy a lot.”

1 said, I don’t want no property out here. I'm not going to live in East

Savannah.’>?

In the mid-1950s, contractors took notice of the inexpensive lots available
in the neighborhood and new homes began to spring up. John Wesley
Jenkins purchased one of the first new homes in 1957 on Mosely Street; at
about the same time, the Abraham Bryan family moved into a new house
a few doors away. Booker T. Moye, at age ninety-nine in 2008, still lived
in the Mosely Street home that he bought for his family in 1956. In the
2200 block of Hanson Street, contractor Clifford Bowers built a custom
ranch-style home for his family in 1958. Across the street Mary and Willie
Roberson moved in about the same time, although with eight children,

H OUSTING

Fig. 31: Built in 1949, the realtor advertised this Twickenham home with these words:

“Lovely new frame bungalow ... on corner of Gaston St. and Lawton Ave... Has a living
room, dining room, kitchen with pantry, laundry room, two big bedrooms and bathroom
with tiled floor. Heated with a gas floor furnace. Priced very reasonably.”>3

Photograph by Geoff L. Johnson.

their home underwent some expansion over the years. Mary Roberson,
who never imagined staying in East Savannah as a teenager, has lived with
her husband on Hanson Street for over fifty years. Their neighbors, the
Bowers, share the distinction of residing on the same block for more than a
half century.>

As the eastside neighborhoods expanded housing options by the mid-
twentieth century, many residents recall that era with nostalgia. The
baby boom seemed to be the best of times and housing grew with that
demographic bulge. Charles Varner remembers that Pine Gardens “was a
neighborhood where the families in the community looked out for each
other and the welfare of the neighborhood’s children.”>> That statement
applied equally well to all the neighborhoods on the eastside.
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PUBLIC HOUSING IN TRANSITION

David Durden’s family felt very lucky to find a home at Moses Rogers
Grove in June 1945. Housing in Savannah was in short supply in the
waning months of the war; the “two bedroom shanty” his father found on
Strickland Island near Avondale was vetoed by his mother who refused to
“raise her kids in the woods.” The three-bedroom home on North Drive
at Moses Rogers was ideal for this family of four — plenty of playmates for
the children and only a short walk for Mr. Durden to the wet dock where
newly fitted-out ships awaited him and other members of the crew for sea
trials. Residents at Moses Rogers Grove took pride in their homes and, in
short order, Mrs. Durden saw to it that flowers lined the walkway to the
front door.>®

When the shipyard closed, Moses Rogers Grove, as well as Josiah Tattnall
Homes and Deptford Place, came under the management of the Housing
Authority of Savannah. In November 1949, however, Milton Gordon

of New York purchased Moses Rogers Grove for just over $200,000 and
the property went into private hands for the first time. From the outset,
Mr. Gordon made it clear that residents’ interests would not be compro-
mised. Rents would not increase in the short term. Modernization plans
included landscaping and playgrounds, updating kitchens and baths, and
even adding a rack for reading material in the bathroom. Veterans would
continue to receive preference in leasing units until January 1951.57

CHILDREN WELCOME
PLAYGROUND AVAILABLE
MODERN BATHROOM, all - electric
kitchen, automatic™ hot water heater

electric refrigerator and range, 3 rooms

$38.50; 4 rocoms $41.00 and 342.50; b rooms
$43.50 and $45.00. On bus - line,

S - RIVERSIDE GARDENB .
East President Street Phone 8744

Fig. 32: This 1951 advertisement makes it clear that Riverside Gardens welcomed young
families.

Savannah Morning News, 13 November 1951, 14.
Courtesy of the Savannah Morning News, with the assistance of Armstrong Atlantic State University.

Symbolic of the change was the new name of “Riverside Gardens.” Moses
Rogers, as captain of the S.5. Savannah, guided the first steam-powered
vessel across the Adantic in 1819 and it was fitting that homes for shipyard
workers bore his name. The new name, however, left behind maritime
tradition in favor of a geographical reference. For residents, the transition
was seamless. The children still ran through the spray pool in the summer
and the boys played football in an open lot near the administration
building in the fall. The women still scrubbed their front porches to keep
their homes tidy outside as well as inside, and the bedrooms upstairs were
still cold in the winter because the coal-fired heater was never quite strong
enough.”8

Efforts to sell Josiah Tattnall Homes also surfaced in 1949, bringing out

a contentious debate between competing interests. The Real Estate Board
hoped to sell Tattnall Homes into private hands in order to auction off the
property unit by unit. The current manager of the property, the Housing
Authority of Savannah, then proposed buying Tattnall Homes and two
other defense housing projects, Nathanael Greene Villa and Francis Bartow
Place, from the federal government. Veterans feared that any sale might
compromise their priority status as renters.’ The issue came before the
Savannah City Council on March 16, 1949 with veterans packing the
chamber. City Council defused the debate for the short term by appointing
a committee to investigate how to facilitate a purchase by the Housing
Authority “if and when” the federal government was willing to sell the
properties. The committee’s report was due in January 1953.60

In 1954, the sale of Tattnall Homes came under discussion once again. The
Housing Authority had no interest in pursuing purchase of the property,
so the issue quickly became a standoff between the City of Savannah and
the federal government. Although federal authorities were open to a sale to
private parties, the city opposed it. Tattnall Homes required a substantial
modernization in sewer lines, an expense that would be borne by the
taxpayers. City Council balked at investing so much capital in what was
intended to be temporary housing and preferred demolition. Ultimately
the federal district court confirmed the federal government’s right to

sell Tattnall Homes and the city acquiesced.®! Globe Building Material
Company from Aurora, Illinois purchased Tattnall Homes in October
1954, creating a subsidiary company, Savannah Gardens Inc., to operate
the housing development.®?



Savannah Gardens took pains
to continue many of the
family-oriented programs that
had been the trademark of
Tattnall Homes. The kinder-
garten welcomed residents’
five-year-olds and children of
all ages took advantage of the
playground facilities. By 1971,
Savannah Gardens employed
three full-time playground
directors, who supervised
baseball games and tourna-
ments at the diamond, the
basketball courts, and outdoor
activities. In the 1960s, Doris
Martin, a well-trained dance
instructor fresh from Chicago,
introduced girls to ballet, tap, and floor exercises at the Savannah Gardens
Dancing School, housed at the Administration Building. As advertisements
pointed out, Savannah Gardens was “a better place for children.”63

Fig. 33: Loy Tindol Smith spent her childhood at
11 A Court in Savannah Gardens.
Courtesy of Roger Smith.

Although Savannah Gardens defined itself as a haven for young families,
there were some tenants who found a lifelong home there. In the mid-
1950s, Arthur Kirk watched his children grow up in the 1950s and 1960s
at his home on Crescent Drive and he remained there for more than fifty
years. Mary Hilton moved into Tattnall Homes in 1950 and, sixty years
later, hopes to never leave. Older tenants bring different needs to the
community but also contribute special talents. Arthur Kirk, for example,
delivered food collected by the fire and police departments to the needy
at Thanksgiving and, during the Christmas season, distributed gifts. His
truck could have been mistaken for Santa’s sleigh with all the presents
stowed in the truck bed.®*

Over the years, Savannah Gardens’ residents became diverse in terms of
age, household size, and race. African American families moved in during
the late 1960s and a sizable Vietnamese population settled there in the
early 1980s. Integration of different races and ethnic groups represented
a major policy change at Savannah Gardens because only whites had
been eligible to live in the housing development when it opened in 1943.

H O UJSING

However, by the year 2000, Savannah Gardens had become an interracial
neighborhood with a mix of whites, Asians, and Hispanics in a predomi-
nantly African American population.®®

At Deptford Place, the shipyard workers of the 1940s were often replaced
by newcomers to Savannah. Janie and Talmadge Herrington moved into
Deptford Place with their boys in the mid-1950s where they found hard-
working families like themselves. The Herringtons were originally from
Baxley but the uncertainties of farming caused Mr. Herrington to take a
job with Union Camp. Many of their neighbors at Deptford Place had
similar stories; they moved to Savannah from Vidalia or Lyons or other
small towns of southeast Georgia looking for a better life. Friendships
grew quickly among neighbors who were at the same place in their lives.
They helped each other out with babysitting and rides to the grocery. Most
of them moved on after a time; for the Herringtons, it was only a short

Fig. 34: Even by September 1946, some units of Deptford Place had been vacated and the
weeds grew tall in the back yard.

Cordray-Foltz Collection, MS 1360, Box 8, Folder 3.
Courtesy of the Georgia Historical Society.
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Fig. 35: Because many veterans were not yet financially able to purchase a home, they were determined to defend their rights to preferential renter status in public housing at this City

Council meeting in March 1949.
Georgia Historical Society Photograph Collection, MS 1361-PH, Box 6, Folder 23.
Courtesy of the Georgia Historical Society.



distance to a home in Pine Gardens on New Mexico Street where they lived
for twenty-five years.°

Like its residents, Deptford Place underwent many changes in a relatively
short period of time. In 1952, private interests purchased a sizable
portion of its acreage and razed 308 units. The following year, the port
management, known officially at that time as the Savannah District
Authority, agreed to purchase the rest of Deptford Place. Although the
port’s long range plan was to build an industrial park on the site, in the
short term, Deptford’s value in generating income took precedence. The
housing development continued to operate while profitable, but by the
mid-1960s there were fewer and fewer tenants. The last units of Deptford
Homes were demolished in 1968.7

The Savannah District Authority also had its eye on Riverside Gardens,
suggesting that it should be razed like Deptford Place for industrial devel-
opment. However, the Citizens and Southern Community Development
Corporation saw the need for affordable housing in the Savannah area and
purchased the property in 1969. With landscaping and renovations that
included a laundromat and recreation hall, Riverside Gardens’ facilities and
grounds were much improved. Moreover, the escalating crime rate in the
complex dropped by 70 percent by 1970.98

Unfortunately, the expectations held by the corporation to create “a model
neighborhood” did not materialize. Riverside Gardens’ low rent attracted
transient tenants, often the unemployed or the underemployed who could
not afford better accommodations at nearby Presidential Plaza. Parents
appreciated the park-like setting where children could play, but they
worried about the rebounding rash of crime at the complex. Sold yet again
in 1981, Riverside Gardens emerged as Oaktree Townhomes.®

Since World War II, the residents of this complex lived in close proximity
to industry, whether it was Southeastern Shipyard or Standard Oil. If the
hazards of living cheek-by-jowl to manufacturing plants seemed remote
for five decades, a horrendous explosion of a chemical tank at Powell-
Duffryn in 1995 brought a grim reassessment, especially for families

at Oaktree Townhomes. On the evening of April 10, vapors of crude
sulfide turpentine seeping from a Powell-Duffryn storage tank ignited.
The 400,000 gallon tank, located directly behind Oaktree, exploded into
a fireball that set other nearby tanks on fire. Resident Dwight Guyette

H OU SING

opened his door to investigate and the heat from the flames brought him to
his knees. All Oaktree residents and those Pine Gardens families who lived
within a half-mile radius of the tank farm were evacuated, about 2,000 in
all, because the fumes could bring about respiratory distress. The Red Cross
designated nearby Eli Whitney School as a temporary shelter; the start of
spring vacation conveniently left the school vacant that week.”°

A black pall hung over the eastside until firemen extinguished the blaze
three days later and the smell of rotten eggs lasted even longer. Although
windows at many Oaktree apartments had been blown out by the
explosion, only two units had dangerous levels of contamination. After
each building had been scrubbed and the playground soil tested for toxins,
the two hundred residents were allowed to return from the hotels where
they had been relocated for nearly 2 month.”!

7 & QPR N N e e : =
Fig. 36: Ida Rogers caught the breeze to dry her clothes at Riverside Gardens.
Photograph by Robert Morris.

Savannah Morning News, 2 May 1977, 1B.
Courtesy of the Savannah Morning News.
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The trauma of the Powell-Duffryn fire was a harbinger
of the end for Oaktree. As early as 1987, the owners
contemplated razing the housing and building a shopping
center in its place. With that plan under consideration,
there was little incentive for management to keep up
maintenance on the existing units. By 2000, only half
the blighted townhomes were occupied, the remainder
boarded up to keep out squatters and vandals. Sold in
December 2000, the homes, relics of a bygone era, were
demolished the next year. Today the property is still
undeveloped.”?

CONCLUSION

Before World War II, home ownership was the norm in
eastside neighborhoods. The opening of Southeastern
Shipyard brought men and women by the hundreds to
live in rental housing and, even after the shipyard closed,
homeowners and renters lived side by side. This status
quo remained in force for decades.

Fig. 37: The basketball court at Riverside Gardens and the other recreational facilities were some of the best
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features of the complex.

In the past thirty years, traditional housing patterns
shifted. Pine Gardens experienced some of the most
dramatic changes during the 1990s. The mix of
homeowners and renters reversed. In 2000, 55 percent
of Pine Gardens housing units were rentals when only
ten years before 62 percent had been owner-occupied.” The explanation
of this turn of events involves several ongoing trends. As lifelong residents
became infirm or died, their heirs became absentee landlords, leasing

the family home instead of selling it. Other homeowners in need of

more space moved away. Some of them also joined the ranks of absentee
landlords. Another factor that figured into the process was “white flight”

as the neighborhood became integrated. Parallel to the decline of owner-
occupied homes was an expansion in the number of new apartments at
Presidential Plaza, a modern complex constructed in the mid-1970s and
later expanded. Although the number of housing units grew substantially
in Pine Gardens from 1990 to 2000, almost all of the additional units were
rental properties.”4

Photograph by Robert Morris.
Savannah Morning News, 2 May 1977, 1B.
Courtesy of the Savannah Morning News.

Pine Gardens is a neighborhood in transition and, to some degree, Twick-
enham and Wagner Heights have replicated this pattern of decreasing
numbers of homeowners and rising numbers of renters. In East Savannah,
however, the tradition of home ownership remains strong. Matilda Bryan
Martin remembers in the 1950s and 1960s when “almost 100 percent

of the families in East Savannah owned their homes.” Granted, there

are currently more rental properties in the neighborhood than there

were fifty years ago, but the majority of East Savannah residents still are
homeowners.”> As eastside residents look towards the future, one challenge
facing them is to create cohesive neighborhoods that address the needs of
renters and property owners but put the common good at the forefront.
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MONDAY, SEPTEMBER 27, 1943 had already been an eventful morning at Southeastern Shipyard.
At 8:30, the yard launched its twenty-fourth Liberty Ship, the S.S. William Black Yates but work never
stopped for the launch ceremony. The hammering and clanging and shouting continued even as the

/ ship slipped down the way to the Savannah River. By 11:30, many workers with brown bag lunches
in hand gathered to celebrate a milestone in the shipyard’s productivity — the “M” Award for merit.
The U.S. Maritime Commission presented to Southeastern Shipyard the “M” pennant with one

gold star for “outstanding production achievement in merchant ship construction.” Each of the more
than 14,000 workers received Maritime merit badges to recognize their effort.! Shipyard worker L.E.
Osborne explained what the badge and pennant really meant to the women and men at Southeastern:

Last winter we froze and this past summer we sweated and cussed and fussed at Management and
each other, but the ships went down the ways right on. That must be the American way of working
and it must be OK or else the ‘M’ wouldn’t be flying up there under ‘Old Glory.?

The river brought jobs to eastern Savannah during World War II, but hard work along its banks or on
the open water nearby was nothing new to the area. From enslaved people toiling in the rice fields to
railroad men laying track, from stevedores at the rosin yards to oystermen in bateaus, from shipfitters
to welders at the shipyard, work defined eastern Savannah.

RAILROADS

The transition from agriculture to industry in eastern Savannah began at Brewton Hill Plantation after
the Civil War. The Screven brothers, John, Thomas, and George, inherited the land beside the river as
part of their father’s estate but saw beyond the plantation’s agricultural potential. The Atlantic & Gulf
Rail Road Company needed wharf property on the Savannah River. The brothers quickly realized that
a gift of 500 feet of prime riverfront property to the company, as well as another five acres for railroad
spurs and a depot, stood to make their remaining acreage attractive commercial real estate. For the
nominal sum of ten dollars, the Screven brothers deeded the property to the railroad in 1869.3 Five
years later, they sold to the railroad excavation rights at or near the site of Fort Boggs for $50,000. It
was agreed that the company could remove 100,000 cubic yards of earth and build a railroad track,
providing the ridge itself was not “disfigured” and kept a “natural slope.” If the ridge of Brewton

Hill still retained some dignity, it was nonetheless maimed in the name of progress. Plantation land
retained its importance and value for rice cultivation but riverside property became the cradle for
industrial development in eastern Savannah.

Further development came when Henry Plant purchased the financially distressed Atlantic & Gulf
Rail Road Company in 1879 and reorganized it under the name of the Savannah, Florida, & Western
Railway. In time, steamships and hotels were added to an extensive network of railroads to form the
“Plant System,” but the SF&W was the first and largest rail line owned by Plant.> The Screven family

Fig. 1: Southeastern Shipyard workers in 1945. 39
Courtesy of Sister Lillian Quadrella, RSM.
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profited from the expansion of offices in 1926 at the intersection of East Broad and Liberty Streets, now

the SF&W, selling two more the Pastoral Center of the Catholic Diocese of Savannah, an imposing
plots of plantation land to Plant  structure that reflected the stability and prosperity enjoyed by the

during the 1880s for nearly company.® ACL even weathered the declining production of naval stores
$100,000.6 in the early twentieth century. Tapping pine trees for their resin decimated

the forest, inevitably paring production. However, Dr. Charles Herty of the
University of Georgia pioneered more environmentally-sensitive harvesting
methods that reversed the decline by the 1920s. The naval stores industry

The emergence of the SF&W
coincided with the growth of
the naval stores industry in
Savannah. The vast expanse of
virgin pine forests in southeast
Georgia and northern Florida
became abundant sources of
turpentine and rosin, distilled
from pine resin. By 1883,
Savannah was recognized as the
global center for the naval stores
market. Mayor Thomas Gamble

Fig. 2: In addition to developing his business

interests, John Screven served as Mayor of of Savannah claimed that yards
Savannah from 1869 to 1873. packed with ﬁfty—ga_llon casks
Georgia Historical Society Photograph Collection, of turpentine and barrels of

MS 1361-PH, Box 25, Folder 11.

Courtesy of the Georgia Historical Society. rosin Welghlng as much as 500

pounds “[stretched]... almost as
far as the eye could see.” It was
no exaggeration. In a twelve-month period in 1896 and 1897, the port of
Savannah shipped over 1.6 million casks and barrels when exports peaked.
Georgia turpentine found its way into paint, soap, and even perfume while
the rosin was made into varnish and rubbed on violin bows. Railroad
companies such as the SF&W invested heavily in new tracks, storage sheds
at their riverfront wharves, and rosin yards to handle the freight but their
expenses were offset by handsome profits.”

The economic importance of the rosin and turpentine market for Savannah
cannot be overestimated. In the 1901-1902 season, for example, 46
percent of the total production of turpentine and 48 percent of the total
production of rosin in the southeastern states passed through the port of o

Savannah. . . : rrpiiy . e fea
Fig. 3: African American stevedores provided the indispensable labor source in handling

Henry Plant died in 1899 and the Atlantic Coast Line Railroad (ACL) cargo.

acquired the Plant System three years later. The railroad built new general Vanisiing GearglaCollection, CTM-280.
Courtesy of the Georgia Archives.




rebounded and Savannah remained the premier port for the shipment of
turpentine and rosin until after World War II.

Both railroads, SF&W and ACL, created employment opportunities that
drew many new residents to the eastside. African Americans hired on as
stevedores at the wharf or as laborers at the railyard. One of the benefits
some enjoyed was the convenient and affordable lodgings at LePageville,
maintained by ACL after its 1902 takeover of SE&W. Among the new
ACL employees who found a home at LePageville was Alvin Ponder from
Sylvania. He invited his widowed mother Mary, three brothers, and a

sister to join him at LePageville in 1924. Soon, Mary Ponder started a job
cooking for the railroad superintendent. In turn, she helped her teenage
son, George, find employment at ACL, where he worked until he joined
the army in World War II.” Another new arrival to LePageville was David
Bowman. The railroad transferred him to Savannah from his job at
Orangeburg, South Carolina. To ease the transition, the company found
rental housing for him and his family at the workers’ village. His grand-
daughter, Minnie Lou Robinson, remembers that she and her grandmother
were not allowed to rent the house at LePageville after her grandfather died
in the late 1930s because they were not employees of the railroad.!?

Twickenham, a white residential area developed thirty years after
LePageville, was also closely tied to the railroad because employees lived
close enough to walk to the ACL wharf. James Robert Fulcher worked
twelve hour days, seven days a week for the railroad police in the 1920s,

a demanding schedule made easier only by living nearby on Lawton
Avenue.!! Three sons, John, Robert, and James, followed in their father’s
footsteps at ACL. The long hours John Fulcher worked at the wharf made
for a special family tradition. On Sunday afternoons, his children brought
him lunch at the wharf because he never had a Sunday off.!2

The imprint of Atlantic Coast Line was clearly seen in eastern Savannah.
Its tracks skirted the area on the west, crossing President Street, in order to
link the wharf with the railroad yard at East Broad Street and its outbound
lines. The houses at LePageville, painted gray with burgundy trim, wore the
company colors of ACL. The company attracted workers to Savannah and
brought goods to the river to be shipped to far off places.!3

The Central of Georgia Railway also maintained a presence in the area
after it took over the Savannah & Tybee Railroad in 1890. For twenty

years, George Anderson
Bishop operated the
drawbridge where the
railroad crossed the
Intracoastal Waterway,
living with his family
in company housing
near the bridge. When
the drawbridge was
replaced by a conven-
tional bridge, the
Central of Georgia
gave him a new job as
a painter. A new home
was required, too, so
Bishop built a house
on Lawton Avenue in
Twickenham for his
wife and daughter in
1934. He had little
training on the job for
his new assignment,
but his supervisor
gave him one bit of
advice: “if it don’t [sic]
show, don’t paint it.”!4
Bishop painted his
way to another twenty
years with the railroad.

Fig. 4: James Robert Fulcher, right, wears the badge of the
ACL Railroad Police in this photograph dating from the

1920s. Other Central of
Courtesy of Kay Adams. Georgia men lived near
the Bishop household

in Twickenham, including Charles B. Burnett and Frank Fleming Black,
both with homes on East Gwinnett Street. Frank Black was a bridge
foreman for the railroad during the 1940s and 1950s although he had
started his career with ACL in the 1920s.15
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Fig. 5: After many
years of service
with the Central
of Georgia, Frank
Black received
a pass for free
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SOUTHEASTERN SHIPYARD

By 1920, industrial development along the Savannah River had wiped
away the memory of rice plantations that had once flourished there.
Atlantic Coast Line leased property west of LePageville to Southern States
Phosphate and Fertilizer Company and, in short order, adjacent parcels of
riverfront land were purchased for commercial use.

In the waning months of World War I, the Savannah Dry Dock and Repair
Company, under the direction of the Terry and Brittain firm, belatedly
went into the production of freighters. The Texas Oil Company and
Standard Oil Company both established a presence on the riverfront by

the end of 1918, each with several petroleum storage tanks and a wharf on
their properties. By the next year, the City of Savannah saw the potential

of further expansion on the riverfront and bought much of what remained
of the Deptford Plantation. These 1,600 acres, called the Deptford Tract,

were intended as factory sites and terminals to spur economic development
along the river.!6

The promise of the Deptford Tract
remained unfulfilled, as no new manufac-
turing concerns showed interest in
locating there during the 1920s and
1930s. However, the situation changed
drastically when war broke out in Europe
in 1939. Although the United States
stayed out of the conflict at first, the
U.S. Maritime Commission saw the
compelling need to build cargo ships
to expand the American merchant
marine. The British, too, were eager to
purchase American ships. With a ready-
made market but no contract from
the Maritime Commission in hand,
the Savannah Shipyards, Inc. (SSI) was
chartered in March 1941 in the confi-
dence that a new shipyard was bound to
get business. The company chose the old

Savannah Dry Dock tract as the site of
Fig. 6: Foreman Frank Black, on the far left, and his crew kept the bridges in good repair for the railroad.

Courtesy of Doris Blessington.

the new shipyard and drove the first sixty-
foot pine piling into the marsh in May.!”



Fig. 7:1n 1933, the Deptford Tract remained largely unde
to raise the rail bed.

Cordray-Foltz Collection, MS 1360, Box 17, Folder 9.
Courtesy of the Georgia Historical Society.

Another 28,000 pilings were sunk into the sand while 800 men worked
on a double shift adding a mountain of fill dirt to create solid footing. The
first 500 foot way, the framework where a ship was built and launched,
was almost complete by July. The Atlantic Coast Line already had a spur
track to the shipyard site operational. The long-awaited contract from

the Maritime Commission was not awarded until October, calling for the
construction of twelve Liberty Ships.!®

The name of “Liberty Ship” gave these hard-working freighters more
popular appeal and patriotic flourish than its given classification of EC2-
S-C1, or emergency cargo ship, steam-powered. At 441 feet 6 inches

in length and a nearly 57 foot beam, she could stow as much cargo as

veloped. In the view looking westward towards the city, convict laborers work

300 railroad freight cars. President
Franklin Roosevelt said of the Liberty
Ship, “I think this ship will do us very
well; she’ll carry a good load. She isn't
much to look at though, is she? A real
ugly duckling.”??

The task of building Liberty Ships
did not materialize for Savannah
Shipyards, Inc. after all. The

contract was cancelled because of

the company’s inability to finish
construction of the yard in the
allotted time or hire workers in suffi-
cient numbers. By February 1942, the
Maritime Commission designated the
new Southeastern Shipyard Corpo-
ration to complete the building begun
by SSI and then awarded the new
firm a contract to construct thirty-six

Liberty Ships by the end of 1943.20

Keels for the first two ships were laid
out on the ways on May 22, 1942.

It was a day that invoked all the best
in Savannah’s seafaring tradition as

it marked the 123rd anniversary of
the S.S. Savannah casting off for the
first transatlantic crossing of a ship powered by steam.?! Men and women
worked round the clock to meet the contract deadline and the first Liberty
Ship, the S.S. James Oglethorpe, was launched to great fanfare on November
20, 1942. Fitting out the ship at the wet dock and completing the sea
trials required almost three months more so the Oglethorpe was nearly two
months late in delivery.??

The tardiness of delivery was in part owing to the fact that South-

eastern also had the overwhelming job of simultaneously constructing

a functioning shipyard. Three of the planned six ways were essentially
finished when the company took charge in February 1942 but so much
more was left to be done. In a year’s time, there were sixty-five buildings on
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the launch of the first Liberty Ship built in Georgia.

Georgia Historical Society Photograph Collection, MS 1361-PH, Box 30, Folder 8.
Courtesy of the Georgia Historical Society.

site providing working space, cafeterias, first aid stations, and offices. Eight
miles of train track crisscrossed the 116 acre yard and carried the 30,000
parts needed for each ship. Like a small town, the shipyard generated its
own power, operated its own switchboard, and kept firemen on duty at all
times. The largest manufacturing company in Savannah sprang up on the
river seemingly overnight.?3

Locomotives and cranes and typewriters were necessary tools, but the most
important resource needed for the job was labor. There were far too few
skilled workers available in Savannah, with or without shipyard experience,
so people of many walks of life came to Southeastern. There were stone-
cutters from Elberton, college students from Statesboro, a band director
from Savannah High School, a seventy-seven-year-old former Savannah

alderman, and a player from the Savannah Indians baseball team. They
came from Texas, Arkansas, California, New York, and points in between.?4

In 1942, James Blackburn Sr. came to Savannah from Screven County at
age sixteen after he had graduated from high school. He started working
full-time at Southeastern, that is, sixty-six hours a week. He had no days off
but nonetheless attended the shipyard’s vocational school in the evenings
after ten hours on the job. After he mastered the skill of reading blueprints,
he became an inspector, “riding ships” during a launch to check for leaks.
He earned top pay at Southeastern — $1.20 per hour — but left the shipyard
at age seventeen to join the navy. Later on during the war, on board a Navy
vessel, he saw one of the Liberty Ships he had “ridden” at anchor in Manila
Bay.?

With so many men like Blackburn going off to war, the call for women

to work at Southeastern became more and more urgent. Thelma Welch
of Wilmington Island knew more about the shipyard than many women
because her husband, Thad, worked there in the fabrication shop.
Although she had not held a job since working for Western Union during
high school, she decided to enroll in a vocational school on Bay Street to
learn how to use an acetylene torch. Hired in October 1942 as a “burner,”
she was so skillful at acetylene welding that she earned the rating of first
class burner in a year’s time.?

Joseph Quadrella returned from California to his boyhood home of
Savannah when he took a job with Southeastern in 1943. Assigned as a
loftsman on the Master Slab, he also served as staff artist for the shipyard
magazine, 7he Sou’Easter, drawing caricatures of employees. In the 1930s,
he had trained as an animator with the Disney Studios in Los Angeles and
worked as a cartoonist for the Oakland Post-Inquirer.?’ At the shipyard, he
found an unexpected outlet for his artistic talents.

Good money at a steady job was more than enough incentive to come to
the shipyard. Family men appreciated the military deferment that came
with defense worker standing and women took advantage of the oppor-
tunity to work competitively with men while contributing to the war
effort. For African Americans there was the promise of a job free of racial
discrimination, thanks to President Franklin Roosevelt’s 1941 executive
order that explicitly banned discriminatory practices at defense plants. But
black employees left any hope for equality at Southeastern at the “Colored



THE SOUEASTER: WORKING AT THE YARD

Every two weeks, Southeastern employees received a copy of The
Sou’Easter, a newsy company newsletter about twelve pages long with
stories and photographs about life in the yard. If workers were reminded
that it was their patriotic duty to improve production and cut down on
absenteeism, there was also space in The Sou’Easter for marriage and
birth announcements, want ads, and caricatures of the foremen and well
known characters at the yard.

Eight by Fore (peak)

CaN You pick ouT the three sis-
ters in this group of welders posed
in front of a fore peak? They are
in the bottom row, left to right,
Epita Arp, RutH ARP JACKSON
and BLaNcHE ARP Epce. The lone
male, who appears to be edging
away from his feminine cowork-
ers, is JiMmMIE SMiTH. Top row,
Hazer. Branp, Rusy WIiLSON,
Mary EckHOFF and IRris TUCKER.

The Arp sisters have been with
us 14 months. Their father, G. W.
Arp, and brother, B. L. Arp, are
in the Wet Dock Labor department.

Fig. 9: Sisters and veteran welders Edith Arp, Ruth Arp Jackson, and Blanche Arp Edge
lived on Causton Bluff Road in Deptford Place.

The Sou’Easter, 15 July 1944,Vol. 2, No. 9, 3.
Courtesy of Live Oak Public Libraries.

“Don’t Get Your Gloves
Dirty, Mom”’

Mgs. TaeLma WEeLcH looks out-of-place
holding a dirty burner’s torch with those
pretty white gloves. But Mrs. Welch is
as much at home with a burner’s torch
as she is with her pots and pans at home
for she has been a Burner here since
October 1942. On vacation when this
picture was taken. Mrs. Welch, 84-094,
attended the launching of hull 61 with
her son, Thad B. Welch, Jr.. age 11.
Here she explains to Thad how she held
the torch when she burned the plate on
hull 9. the Crawford W. Long. Mg.
WeLen, 73-050, also works in the Yard.

Fig. 10 (above): During the launch of S.S.
Alexander R. Shepherd in August 1944, Thelma
Welch shows her acetylene torch to her son,
Thad Jr. She is wearing her “Sunday best”
instead of regulation trousers because it was
her day off.

The Sou’Easter, 1 September 1944, Vol. 2, No. 12, 2.
Courtesy of Live Oak Public Libraries.

Fig. 11 (right): Pencil in hand, Joseph
Quadrella was ready to draw yet another
shipyard caricature.

Courtesy of Sister Lillian Quadrella, RSM.
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Fig. 12:In 1944, acetylene welders pause from their work long enough to pose for a group portrait. Bottom row: F.H. Howard, Mary Barefield, Hilda Hall, W.H. Poythress, A.T. Kalman, Sue

Thomas, Kathryn Skinner, S.L. Morely, and W.D. Dean. Second row: PW. Grizzly, B.O. Moore, D.A. Norman, J.H. Mitchell, W.T. Moore, W.W. Tubb, J.M. Fowler, C.A. Caldwell, J.L. Fowler, J.S.

O’Neal. Third row: T.A. Cox, F.E. Thornton, H.M. Giles, G. Langston, W.M. Lee, FW. Thomas, W.D. Reagin, T.A. Jarrell, J.H. Crawford. Top row: S.W. Wilson, R.A. Bell, B. Garrett, E.J. Davis,
W. Peebler, C.W. Patrick, H.W. Hutson, J.J. Dillon, J.L. Clanton.

Courtesy of Larry Jenkins.



Fig. 13: The S.S. Check Knot, an AV-1 vessel, sails down the Savannah River, bound for the
Pacific in June 1945.
Courtesy of Sister Lillian Quadrella, RSM.

Time Gate” where they reported for work. Racism was as prevalent at the
shipyard as it was in the rest of the Jim Crow south.?®

The only jobs open to African Americans were those of laborer, porter, or
helper, menial positions with lower wages and no hope of advancement.
Unions did not allow blacks to join so their voice was muted on labor
issues, despite the fact that elected black members sat on the Labor-
Management Committee. Sam Williams, an African American who

worked at the yard for two years, led his fellow laborers in a one-hour strike

demanding a pay raise and skilled jobs but they won no concessions. The
subordinate place assigned to black workers was reinforced daily in large
and small ways. Seats in the cafeteria were reserved for whites only. Ice
chilled the water in coolers designated for whites but not for blacks. 7%e
Sou’Easter parodied black workers for their dialect but made no mention
of the Southern drawl.?? The pay, however, was far better for African
Americans at Southeastern than any other workplace in Savannah. Sam
Williams remembered that blacks “were making more money than they
had ever made in their lives.”°

If working relationships reflected the racial prejudice of the day, there were
notable exceptions. Sam Cohen was a helper who worked with burner
Thelma Welch and saved her life three times. When her coveralls caught

fire, for example, he pushed her to the ground and rolled her over and over

to extinguish the blaze. Some time later, an angry mob of white workers
came after Sam Cohen, believing that he was the black man who had
crossed the lines of racial propriety by giving candy to a white woman.
Thelma Welch defended the black man at her side, saying that he had been
working with her when the incident occurred. As the crowd pushed menac-
ingly towards her and Sam Cohen, she flamed her torch and threatened

to burn any man who laid a hand on Cohen. The mob melted away. As
Cohen thanked her, she said, “you are my friend and you were there three
times when I needed you — now it was my turn to help you.”!

Management’s expectations for Sam Cohen and all African Americans at
the shipyard were defined by the color of their skin; for Thelma Welch, her
gender presented similar preconceptions. A 1944 bulletin from the U.S.
Department of Labor acknowledged that at first female workers in the
“dirt, sweat, and rough and tumble” setting of shipyards would have been

Fig. 14: In 1944, machine shop helpers pictured were, seated from left to right, Garfield
Wells, W.H. Stephens, Robert Frederick, J.E. Zealey; standing, Otis Bradley, Elbert Jenkins,
B. Jones, and James Vest.

The Sou’Easter, 1 March 1944, Vol. 1, No. 24, 11.
Courtesy of Live Oak Public Libraries.
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Fig. 15: Five chauffeurs modeled new burgundy uniforms in 1943. The women are, from
left to right, Edna Holland, Anne Vainas, Margaret Murphy, Bertha O’Hayer, and Bessie
Mae DeLoach.

The Sou’Easter, 15 July 1943, Vol. 1,No. 9, 7.
Courtesy of Live Oak Public Libraries.

as “fanciful a tale [as] the Arabian nights.... The need to employ women
was not realized and accepted till the very last moment.” Women were not
hired at Southeastern in significant numbers until 1943 when 2,000 of the
more than 13,000 workers were female.32

Among the first women to sign on at the shipyard were residents of
Twickenham and Wagner Heights neighborhoods. Twickenham’s Dolores
Fulcher of East Gwinnett Street started as a trainee in ship fitting school
on October 26, 1942 and achieved the rank of first class ship fitter by
November 1943. “You gotta know your onions,” she said, to earn the top
rank and draw the best wages of $1.20 per hour.33 At the beginning of
1943, Vivian Eden of Helmken Street in Wagner Heights started work at
the shipyard as the first female Union Melt Operator. Twenty-nine months

later, she was the only woman still working in the department. She was
doing her part in the war effort while her husband was serving in the
army.4

Not all production jobs at Southeastern were open to women, but most
commonly women worked as welders, burners, material checkers, rivet
catchers, and ship fitters. Despite the skepticism of some male co-workers,
women were often found to be more patient and reliable, and they met

or exceeded the standards required of the production line. According to
supervisor Red Pitts,

My best welder was a girl. She came out there to work, too. Some of the
boys would mess with her a little bit, but shed buck the devil out of them
if they fooled around too much. There were several [girls] that were good
workers, but she beat anything.>

Some jobs were assigned exclusively to females, such as secretaries, cafeteria
counter servers, switchboard operators, and increasingly chauffeurs. Bertha
O’Hayer, for example, of Forrest Street in Twickenham was one of thirteen
chauffeurs, all women.3¢

“Rosie the Riveter” worked like a man and dressed like him, too. She wore
coveralls or heavy work pants, high-topped shoes, and a kerchief over her
hair. In the name of safety, she was asked to take the pledge:

I, , promise

To have no loose ends on my clothing,

To leave all jewelry at home or in my bag.

To keep my pockets buttoned.

To keep my ankle and wrist cuffs securely closed.

To keep my hair completely covered and to keep my fingernails short.3”

Rosie was young and single, or by turns a mother with young children,
or a grandmother. She moved to the newly opened housing projects built
in eastside neighborhoods for shipyard workers and called Josiah Tattnall,
Moses Rogers Grove, and Deptford Place home. When the shipyard

was at its busiest, Rosie had 3,500 sisters at Southeastern out of 15,000
employees.?®

For female and male workers at the shipyard, the risk of accident and
serious injury was high because of the inherent dangers of the tools they
used. Approximately 7,000 fires broke out at the shipyard in just over three
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Fig. 16: Mary Barefield, burner helper from
Twickenham, was initiated into the International
Brotherhood of Boiler Makers, Iron Ship Builders
and Helpers in May 1943.

Courtesy of Larry Jenkins.

years time, a statistic not too
surprising given the number
of welders and burners at
work. Welders, for example,
made it a point to spread
sand on the floor where they
were working to prevent
sparks from igniting. There
were over 1,367 accidents
relating to the gantry cranes
that hoisted huge fabricated
metal panels high in the air.
On occasion workers were
injured as panels swung out
of control. One eighty-five
foot crane fell over in April
1943, amazingly with no
fatalities. With miles of
cables and wires, electro-
cution was also an ever
present risk. Just as insidious
was the danger posed by
asbestos, although decades
could pass before employees
fell ill. Fatalities at South-
eastern probably numbered
five or six while the shipyard
was in operation, but there
was a concerted effort on
the part of management to
smother any news about
shipyard accidents.’” In

fairness to Southeastern, however, there was tremendous pressure to
produce ships in all possible haste and accidents inevitably happened.

The Maritime Commission’s 1942 contract with Southeastern provided
for the construction of three dozen Liberty Ships by the end of 1943.
The thirty-sixth hull, the §.S. Louis M. Godey, went down the way on
December 20 only thirty-eight days after its keel was laid, a construction

L. s * ke,
Fig. 17: After the launch, Audrey Dunn, Merilyn Milton, and an unidentified male (first
row, left to right) celebrate the christening of the Crawford Long with Henry C. Smith Jr.,
shipwright foreman, Thelma Welch, and Mrs. Litchfield (second row, left to right).
Courtesy of Audrey Dunn Platt.
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Fig. 18: Hamilton Mitchell poses with his staff at the Administration Building in 1944. They
are, kneeling from left to right, Hamilton Mitchell, Maxie Ryals, Lara Williams, B. Garvin,
and Albert P. Walker; standing, Chrenthia Shellman, Marie Burns, Eva Mae Moultrie,

Martha Capes, Elizabeth Hart, Rebecca Barnes, and Eleanor Green.

The Sou’Easter, 15 June 1944, Vol. 2, No. 7, 15.
Courtesy of Live Oak Public Libraries.
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LLAUNCHING VICTORY

For 106 times, ships slid down the way at Southeastern. Although the ritual varied little,
each launch was an event to be savored.

Fig. 19 (right): Mrs. George A. Renschler, wife of the Southeastern’s chairman of the board, swung the
champagne bottle with impressive results to christen the S.S. Lyman Hall on February 6, 1943.

Georgia Historical Society Photograph Collection, MS 1360, Box 30, Folder 6.
Courtesy of the Georgia Historical Society.

Fig. 20-22 (below): This sequence of photographs taken by brothers Will Bond and Stephen Bond shows
how quickly S.S. John Milledge slides down the way. According to the clock, only two minutes pass until the
launched ship moves well into the river.

Figs. 20-21: Georgia Historical Society Photograph Collection, MS 1360, Box 30, Folder 3.
Courtesy of the Georgia Historical Society.

Fig. 22: Courtesy of the Coastal Heritage Society.



record that was equaled but never surpassed at Southeastern. Ten days later,
the ship was delivered to the British Ministry of War Transport, meeting
the contract deadline with twenty-four hours to spare.4’ By war’s end,
Southeastern built a total of eighty-eight Liberty Ships, as well as eighteen
coastal cargo vessels, dubbed the AV-1. The AV-1, considerably smaller than
the Liberty Ship at 338 feet 8 inches in length and half the deadweight
tonnage, was especially useful for the Pacific theater.4!

No matter how many ships went down the ways, the launch played out
like a drama for the guests and for the employees who made it possible.
Bunting of red, white, and blue draped the bow of the ship and the South-
eastern Shipyard Band played patriotic songs and popular dance tunes.

All eyes were on the woman chosen to be sponsor, who held a bouquet of
roses, and her maid of honor, the understudy for the sponsor’s role. At the
precise moment when the tides were most favorable, the sponsor smashed
a bottle of champagne across the bow of the ship as she announced, “I
christen thee...” The ship slipped down the way when unseen burners
released her by cutting through the sole plates that had held her fast.4?

The cast for the launching of the §.S. Crawford Long on April 10, 1943

was especially memorable. The daughters of Southeastern directors,
twelve-year-old Merilyn Milton of New York and nine-year-old Audrey
Dunn from Savannah, stood on the platform in front of the No. 5 Way as
sponsor and maid of honor respectively. Although Miss Milton appeared a
bit nervous at first, she swung the bottle into the bow and christened the
Crawford Long with champagne spray. The burners who cut the ship loose
from the sole plates were Thelma Welch and Mrs. W.M. Litchfield, the first
and only women to have that honor. Audrey Dunn Platt still remembers
that day as exhilarating and filled with “huge excitement.”*3

Occasionally employees stood on the platform in the coveted role of
sponsor or maid of honor. Such recognition was commonly reserved

for women such as Nonie Skinner in the tabulating department for five
months of perfect attendance or sisters Josephine and Julia Baker who had
left the shipyard to join the WAVES, an acronym for “Women Accepted for
Volunteer Emergency Service,” part of the U.S. Naval Reserve. Sometimes
the honor was extended to the wives or sisters of employees, such as
Florence Smith of New Mexico Street in Pine Gardens whose husband was
the shipwright foreman. Without a doubt, however, the employee who
enjoyed “the best seat in the house” at launch ceremonies was Hamilton

Mitchell of East Gwinnett Street in East Savannah. As head porter at the
Administration Building, he was “custodian” of the champagne bottle,
delivering the bubbly, corsages, and a bouquet of roses to the sponsor and
maid of honor.%4

The last ship launched was the AV-1 S.S. Half Knot that glided into the
river on September 14, 1945. The war with Germany and Japan was
already over and, with the end of the fighting, the end of Southeastern was
in sight. Two days after the Japanese surrender in August, many jobs were
terminated; only enough workers to finish the AV-1 vessels already under
construction remained at the yard. As the Half Knot slipped down the ways
amid the usual festivities, a reporter from the Savannah Morning News
noted, “it was the final launching, the end of a job well done. You could see
the tinge of sadness in the faces of the workmen who flocked around.”

If few physical vestiges of Southeastern Shipyard remain today, its legacy is
nonetheless secure. The “ugly duckling” Liberty Ship acquitted herself well.
The expectation at the time was that she would be scrapped after the war
but she was sturdier than she looked. The productive life of many Liberty
Ships extended beyond the war and well into the 1960s or beyond.4¢ Many
workers had a stake in Southeastern; a total of more than 46,000 men

and women had been employed at the shipyard at one time or other in its
four years of operation. A job in the yard could be exhausting, dangerous,
boring, stressful, noisy, but always well-paid. There was also the satisfaction
of working with purpose at a critical time in history. As The SouEaster
explained in its last issue, “it was a perfectly geared teamwork that brought
us the victory... . The men and women of Southeastern are proud of the
part they took in the war effort.”4”

Nonetheless, the toll on the work force was traumatic when jobs disap-
peared. Although layoffs, especially among women, began months before
the end of the war, the sudden job loss after V] Day stunned thousands

of workers. Some employees left Savannah and returned to former lives;
others stayed and started over. For Savannal’s eastside, Southeastern was
the catalyst in building the residential areas of Pine Gardens and Savannah
Gardens. The housing crunch of the war years brought an influx of young
families to public developments convenient to the shipyard. Some of those
families stayed after the war and became the core of new communities.
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WOMEN IN THE WORKPLACE

Despite the visibility of “Rosie the Riveter”, women who chose to work
outside the home had been earning a living long before Rosie reported
for work at the shipyard and continued with their jobs long after she left.
Women from East Savannah, for example, found work as housekeepers,
laundresses, and caregivers. Anna Robinson of Treat Avenue remembers
washing, ironing, and tending children for families at Josiah Tattnall
Homes during World War II. She received $3.50 per week. A number of
the women at LePageville found similar jobs at Moses Rogers Grove. 8
Hanson Cooper of East Savannah provided child care for several Twick-
enham families after the

war. She was “tall and slim,
beautiful and ageless” and

had a natural rapport with
children.®

East Savannah is remarkable
for the number of women who
became educators and that fact
underscores the importance
that education held for neigh-
borhood families.

Rebecca Cooper had her heart
set on becoming a teacher
when she was in the first grade
at Powell Laboratory School.
For Lynette Bowers Ward
Bridges and Andrea Bowers
Williams, teaching must

have been a birthright. Their
mother, Janie Baker Bowers,
began her career at a one-room
schoolhouse near Metter and
later taught for the Savannah-
Chatham County Public
Schools for twenty-seven years.
The daughters recall their

Fig. 23: For more than thirteen years, Gertrude
from LePageville cared for the children of the
John Fulcher family on Lawton Avenue in Twick-
enham. In 1934, she holds infant John Clifton
Fulcher. home being very much like a

school with an abundance of

Courtesy of Larry Jenkins.

books and pictures. Another pair of sisters, Matilda Bryan Martin and Ola
B. Lewis, shared a passion for teaching on the secondary level. For Vicky
Bryant, the desire to become a teacher grew out of her experience as a
substitute teacher when she “fell in love with the children.” The combined
teaching and administrative experience of these women amounts to well
over 150 years, and five women — Lynette Bowers Ward Bridges, Vicky
Bryant, Rebecca Cooper, Ola B. Lewis, and Andrea Bowers Williams

— served as principals in the Savannah-Chatham County Public Schools.®

Other eastside women found employment after World War II in tradi-
tional and non-traditional fields. Women became hairdressers, nurses,
shopkeepers, bank tellers, and administrative assistants. Some women
opted for jobs in industrial firms such as Union Camp.

OYSTERING AND SHRIMPING

Southeastern Shipyard’s short but dynamic presence on the river caused
many newcomers to the eastside to define the river’s impact in purely
industrial terms. However, earning a livelihood on the river or nearby
waterways was as old as human memory. Managing the river traffic, for
example, provided jobs for a number of eastside residents over the years.
Arthur Kirk of Crescent Drive in Savannah Gardens has spent most of his
working life — over fifty years — as a docking pilot with the Atlantic Towing

Fig. 24: The Cynthia No. 2 of the Atlantic Towing Company plies the Savannah River in the
1930s.

Cordray-Foltz Collection, MS 1360, Box 30, Folder 1.
Courtesy of the Georgia Historical Society.



Fig. 25: Bateaus were the workhorse craft for independent fishermen and oystermen
because of their shallow draft and maneuverability.

Ambos Photograph Collection, Thunderbolt Museum.
Courtesy of Lena Ambos Meeks and the Thunderbolt Museum Society.

Company. Abraham Bryan of Mosely Street in East Savannah worked on
a tugboat at Atlantic Towing until he took a job with the U.S. Corps of
Engineers operating a dredge in the river. Daryl Blalock, who grew up in
East Savannah, has been a longshoreman for almost twenty years, just like
Robert Harmon Sr. of Mosely Street in the 1950s.5!

The coastal waters provided a living for fishermen, shrimpers, and
oystermen for generations. Many of them docked their boats at the town
of Thunderbolt, sited on a bluff overlooking the Wilmington River about
three miles from eastern Savannah. Thunderbolt oysterman July Houston
spent a life exploring the marsh, tidal creeks, and inlets. He knew all the
best oyster beds in the area and did his best to keep their location secret.
Setting off in his bateau, he harvested select oysters and brought them to
the seafood factory in Thunderbolt where he and his wife Janie rented

a stall. Customers knew to look for the best oysters there. Although the

o= 74 o T :
Fig. 26: A mountain of oyster shells fronts a Maggioni oyster processing plant.

L.P. Maggioni Collection, MS 1893, Box 9.
Courtesy of the Georgia Historical Society.
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Fig. 27: Canneries processed oysters at Port Royal, Daufuskie, Thunderbolt, Brunswick,
Fernandina, and other plants for shipment under the Daufuskie and Sea Zone labels.

L.P. Maggioni Collection, MS 1893, Box 2.
Courtesy of the Georgia Historical Society.

better part of a century has passed since July Houston made a living from
his bateau, his daughter, Maggie Houston Baker, who lived nearly to her
102nd birthday, and his granddaughter, Janie Baker Bowers, of Hanson
Street in East Savannah remembered the weekend feasts of shrimp and raw
oysters he provided for his family.>?

Small-scale fishermen and oystermen like July Houston shared the
Thunderbolt seafood market with large commercial concerns such as
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Fig. 28:1n 1932,

women headed

shrimp at Maggioni

Seafood Plant No. 4.

Cordray-Foltz Collection,
MS 1360, Box 17,
Folder 3.

Courtesy of the Georgia
Historical Society.

Fig. 29: Men at the
Maggioni plantin 1934
graded the shrimp into
categories of small,
medium, large, and
jumbo.

Cordray-Foltz Collection,
MS 1360, Box 17,
Folder 3.

Courtesy of the Georgia
Historical Society.



L.P. Maggioni and Company. Luigi Paoli Maggioni was an accidental
immigrant from Italy when, as a cabin boy, his ship foundered in a
hurricane off the Gulf Coast of Florida. After some years in Florida, he
moved to Savannah where he and his wife opened a general store in 1870
and gradually specialized in fresh fish and oysters. By 1883, Maggioni and
Company operated an oyster factory at Daufuskie and an oyster cannery
at Beaufort, South Carolina. At Maggioni’s death in 1897, his son Gilbert

took over the enterprise, first focusing on shipping fresh shrimp and oysters

packed in ice to markets as far away as the Fulton Fish Market in New
York. As the appetite for shrimp grew, Gilbert Maggioni saw the future

of the company in canned shrimp which would enable him to tap more
distant markets. Maggioni Seafood Plant No. 4 at Thunderbolt opened

in 1928 and averaged 50,000 pounds of canned shrimp daily. A seafood
empire developed, with canneries in South Carolina, Georgia, and Florida
packing shrimp, oysters, and vegetables. With oyster production reaching
unprecedented levels in the 1930s, L.P. Maggioni and Company was
known as the nation’s largest supplier of cove oysters.>

By 1925, five million pounds of shrimp were unloaded on Thunderbolt
docks and, at this point, the Ambos family became prominent in the
coastal seafood business. Louis Ambos established a commercial shrimping
fleet in 1927 and sold his catch to vendors at downtown Savannah’s City
Market as well as to the nearby canneries. Louis Ambos’ enterprise was

a natural extension of the family interest in seafood; his father, Henry
Ambos, opened a restaurant in Thunderbolt in 1870. In turn, Louis’

son, Henry, was actively involved in quality control of the newly caught
shrimp.>

However, substantial changes to the Ambos business model were intro-
duced after World War II, thanks to the collaboration of Henry Ambos
and Bill Mullis. Mullis, a grocer in Pine Gardens, had a passion for shrimp.
In an effort to cut the preparation time for cooks, he experimented with
breading shrimp and then freezing it. Once his method was perfected, only
a few minutes of frying were needed to transform frozen shellfish into hot,
tasty shrimp. Mullis hired his neighbor, Mildred Hatfield of Hawthorne
Street, to market the new product to Savannah grocers. At her first grocery,
she offered samples of breaded shrimp to customers and managers alike. In
no time, the shrimp were gone and she had her first order. That enthusi-
astic reception repeated itself time and again at Savannah grocery stores.>

- . - .LA',
Fig. 30: The patriarch of the Ambos family, Henry Ambos, center, is flanked by his sons
George, left, and Louis, right, in this 1900 photograph.

Vanishing Georgia Collection, CTM-25.
Courtesy of the Georgia Archives.

Besieged by orders for frozen breaded shrimp, Bill Mullis and Mildred
Hatfield set up an informal shrimp packing plant in a one-room shed
behind his grocery. To expand the operation, Mullis presented his concept
to Henry Ambos, who immediately saw its potential and agreed to bankroll
the production of frozen shrimp. That collaboration was the marriage

of Mullis’ innovative process with the fleet, physical plant, and financial
resources of the Ambos enterprise; the Trade Winds Company was estab-
lished in 1948.5¢ Frozen battered fantail shrimp was an immediate hit with
consumers who appreciated the convenience and the availability of shrimp
in and out of season.

Both Maggioni and Trade Winds used African American workers exten-
sively in their Thunderbolt operations, employees classified in Maggioni’s
1951 records as “shucking labor, packing labor, [and] boat labor.”5” When
the trawlers put in at the Maggioni dock with the day’s catch, workers were
already waiting at the pier. Shrimp to be shipped fresh were packed in ice
and transported by rail or later by air. Shrimp to be canned were headed
and peeled, blanched in steaming water, graded according to size, and
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finally packed into a glass jar.® Among the cannery workers were a number
of East Savannah residents. Three generations of July Houston’s family,

for example, took jobs at the Ambos or Maggioni plants picking crab and
cleaning shrimp. Janie Baker Bowers, his granddaughter, worked there as

a young teenager after school, during weekends or summer vacation in the
early 1940s. The best workers, she remembers, were the women who could
head shrimp in each hand at the same time.*®

White women also worked at the seafood plants, primarily in the
packaging process. Mildred Hatfield from Pine Gardens, a key figure from
the earliest days at Trade Winds, hired and trained white women from

Pine Gardens to work in Thunderbolt. Friends and neighbors who became
employees were, in her words, “a nice group.” Ruth Armour Riner from
Hawthorne Street in Pine Gardens worked breading shrimp. “I liked it
down there [at Trade Winds],” she recalls, even if the pay was not as high as
she had hoped.®

. R I N
Fig 31: During the 1950s at Trade Winds, women observed stringent sanitary regulations,
including clean uniforms and dipping their hands in bleach water.

Ambos Photograph Collection, Thunderbolt Museum.
Courtesy of Lena Ambos Meeks and the Thunderbolt Museum Society.

In the 1960s and 1970s, significant changes occurred in the industry.
Seapak acquired Trade Winds in 1964. Overfishing reduced the shrimp
catch while pollution closed many oyster beds to harvesting. These
environmental factors combined with rising labor and operations costs
closed the canneries at Thunderbolt. Today the remaining shrimpers and
fishermen make a living selling their catch at the local retail or wholesale
fresh market.%!

SMALL BUSINESSES

Although large enterprises such as canneries, the railroads and the shipyard
employed a significant number of eastside residents, small businesses
contributed much to the economic vitality of the neighborhoods.

Years before the Wagner Heights neighborhood existed, Wheaton Street
was a promising road for business development in the late nineteenth

and early twentieth centuries. Traffic was considerable enough that a toll
gate was installed, roughly at the intersection of Waters and Wheaton. By
1882, the Forest City Laundry Company was in place near the toll gate
and twenty years later the Winter Brewing Company operated across from
the Catholic Cemetery.®? The proximity to the cemetery attracted florist
August C. Oelschig to build greenhouses near the intersection of Wheaton
and Skidaway by 1890. Within a few years, he moved his nursery from its
original location on Anderson Street to the Skidaway property, creating a
compound that included his home, greenhouses, design space, a well, and
a windmill. In 1904, he opened a florist shop downtown at the corner of
Bull and Oglethorpe, a retail landmark for nearly fifty years. The Oelschig
greenhouses earned a nation-wide reputation for tropical plants in the early
twentieth century, cultivating and shipping more rubber plants than any
nursery in the country.®3

August Oelschig and his sons, Carl and Albert, often looked to residents
of East Savannah to work in the greenhouses and tend to the plants. Jake
Shellman, for example, held the critical position of keeping the temper-
ature constant in the greenhouses. That close tie with East Savannah
continued with the Oelschig grandsons, George, Carl Jr. and Albert Jr.,
the third generation of florists and horticulturalists.** George Oelschig and
his son Kurt currently operate Oelschig Nursery on Gregory Street in Pine
Gardens, where his greenhouses have stood for more than forty years.



A.C. OELSCHIG & SONS

A.C. Oelschig built his business through innovation. Marketing decorative greenery to New York was a first step, followed by introducing outdoor
rose bushes. Before 1900, he was already a member of the Florists International Telegraph Delivery Association. Under the leadership of the fourth
generation of Oelschig florists, the business remains an eastside tradition.

Fig. 32 (left): A.C. Oelschig walks by

77
his greenhouses at the Skidaway g, ' S / g’i
compound. The base of the windmill is il iy
e bt Bought of A, {. OBLSGHIG,
: o U SFLORIST #
Courtesy of Walt Kessel. GROWER OF DECORATIVE AND TROPICAL PLANTS,

Fig. 33 (right): A receipt to the Tisch- i / o

meyer family for lilies, seeds, and calla e 27

lilies was signed by A.C. Oelschig. z{?: o= ¥ ’f( il
i 3

The emblem for Florists International i
Telegraph Delivery Association was (}%\
prominently displayed on the receipt. ‘

Courtesy of George Oelschig. S :/'é " 4

5. OARDNER, Agh,, 11 Broughion St , Fast
N. COLEMAN. Cotioctor, Office~1 3 Bismghing 1. Easte

Fig. 34 (left): The Oelschig firm
purchased the first Ford delivery
truck in Savannah during the

first decade of the twentieth
century. Before then, flowers were
delivered by horse-drawn wagon
or bicycle.

Courtesy of George Oelschig.

Fig. 35 (right): After World War Il, the
caladiums were flourishing under
the care of Charlie Anderson from
East Savannah and Lannie Best, a
native of Bulloch County.

Courtesy of George Oelschig.
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Fig. 36: About 1910, August Oelschig, center with cigar, was flanked by his employees.
Jonas, standing on extreme left, was a resident of East Savannah and born into slavery.
Sitting on the extreme left was Thomas, a flower deliveryman also from East Savannah.

Courtesy of George Oelschig.

Fig. 37: Billing itself as “Savannah’s Most Complete Flower Shop”in 1948, Innecken Florist
kept its greenhouses only steps away from the rear of the store.

Cordray-Foltz Collection, MS 1360, Box 13, Folder 15.
Courtesy of the Georgia Historical Society.

In addition to the Oelschigs, other florists clustered around Wheaton
Street. The Richardson Greenhouses, built just west of what is now Adair
Street in Wagner Heights, came into the area in the 1880s and gave its
name to Richardson Street. Innecken Florist, founded in 1926 and strate-

gically located next to Hillcrest Cemetery, enjoyed a steady business in
floral arrangements for funerals and gravesites. The store made a point

to welcome African American customers and frequently advertised in

the Savannah Tribune in the 1930s. John Hall Florist on Wheaton and
Helmken Street also met the needs of Wagner Heights residents as well as
the bereaved for many years.®

Often some of the first businesses established in neighborhoods were
groceries or specialized markets. Joseph Hohnerlein, a butcher at City
Market, set up his own grocery near Wagner Heights at the corner of
Wheaton and Waters by 1920 and lived above the store. His business was
a mainstay for Wagner Heights residents who counted on his excellent
quality meats and fresh-ground blood sausage. He kept a herd of eighty
cattle at the “Bottom,” to the rear of Wagner Heights, in order to
provide his customers with veal and other fresh meat. A large jolly man,
he welcomed returning soldiers after World War II with a prime cut of
meat. Both Hohnerlein sons joined their father at the store; in fact, his
son Joseph Jr. lived within walking distance to the store from his Wagner
Heights home on Adair Street.®®

A longstanding grocery in Twickenham was Gay’s, a small green store with
concrete columns at the corner of Lawton and Hale Streets. Proprietor
Raymond Gay served the community in the 1930s and 1940s with “a little
bit of everything” in stock. Children spent their allowance on bubblegum,
sweet rolls, peanuts and soft drinks. Mr. Gay offered the boys ten cents if
they could grip the “electric machine” with low levels of current running
but, despite their best efforts, none of the boys collected the dime.®”

In East Savannah, Ladson Grocery had the inventory of a market, a general
store, and a confectionary. There were few places to buy food within the
neighborhood and the store extended credit to its customers until payday
at the end of the month. Located at the intersection of Treat Avenue and
East Gwinnett Street, the store offered meat and staple goods. Harold
Baker, for example, recalled going to Ladson’s and “buying five cents
worth of liverwurst and five cents worth of bologna. For fifteen cents one
could buy a very good satisfying meal.”®® Shoppers also bought kerosene
at Ladson’s since East Savannah did not have electric lights at that time.
For the children, storeowner Mrs. Lavinia Ladson was “Mrs. Sweet.” They
bought candy and other treats from her; conveniently the children caught
the school bus in front of her store. One of the few African American
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Fig. 38: Lavinia Ladson’s confectionary on East Gwinnett Street in 2010.
Photograph by Geoff L. Johnson.

proprietors in East Savannah, Mrs. Ladson was also the organist at the First
African Baptist Church on Treat Avenue.

When shipworkers came to live at Josiah Tattnall Homes, Moses Rogers
Grove, and Deptford Place, more shops and stores were needed for this
growing population. If wartime rationing limited the availability<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>